
 

 

 

 

continued over 

Nottingham City Council 

Children's Partnership Board 
 
Date: Tuesday, 29 June 2021 
 
Time:  4.30 pm 
 
Place: Remote - To be held remotely via Zoom - 

https://www.youtube.com/user/NottCityCouncil 
 
Councillors and Board Members are requested to attend the above meeting to 
transact the following business 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Governance Officer: Emma Powley     Direct Dial: 0115 876 4891 
 
 
Agenda 

 
 Pages 

1  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2  Declarations of Interest  
 

 

3  Minutes  
Last meeting held on 23 March 2021 (for confirmation) 
 

3 - 10 

4  Children and Young People's Plan 2021-24  
Report of Corporate Director for People 
 

11 - 24 

5  Children and Young People's Participation Strategy 2021-25  
Report of Corporate Director for People 
 

25 - 46 

6  Creation of a Speech, Language and Communication Pathway for 
Nottingham City  
Report of Corporate Director for People 
 

47 - 152 

7  Play and Youth update  
Presentation by Youth Offending Service Manager 
 

153 - 162 

8  Supporting families: Family Hubs in Nottingham City  
Presentation by Head of Children’s Strategy and Improvement 
 

 

9  Small Steps, Big Changes (SSBC) - partnership update  
Presentation by SSBC Programme Director 

163 - 176 

Public Document Pack



 
10  Key messages and items for information  

 
 

11  Work plan 2021-22  
For noting / discussion 
 

177 - 178 

12  Meeting dates  
To agree to meet at 4.30pm on the following Tuesdays during the 
municipal year 2021/22: 
 
2021   2022 
28 September 29 March 
14 December 
 

 

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact 
the constitutional services officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting  
 

Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public.  Any 
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the council’s 
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk.  Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to 
notify the governance officer shown above in advance. 

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/


1 

 

 

 

 
NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP BOARD 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Remote meeting held by zoom and streamed to the 
County Council Website - via Zoom on 23 March 2021 from 4.05 pm - 6.04 pm 
 

 Cllr Cheryl Barnard (Chair) Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People, NCC 

 Cllr David Mellen Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Schools & Communications, 

NCC 

 Catherine Underwood Corporate Director for People, NCC 

 Sue Fielding Department for Work and Pensions  

 Helen Blackman 

(Helen Watson Acting) 

Director of Children’s Integrated Services, NCC 

 Nick Lee Director of Education, NCC 

 Jon Rea Engagement and Participation Lead Officer, NCC 

 Charlotte Reading NHS Nottingham Clinical Commissioning Group/ Chief Nurse 

 Amanda Payne Futures Group representative 

 Phil Briscoe Further Education representative (Nottingham College) 

 Sophie Russell Head of Children’s Strategy and Improvement, NCC 

 Maria Ward Maintained Primary School Governor  

 Julie Burton  National Probation Service Nottinghamshire representative 

 Tracy Tyrell Nottingham CityCare Partnership  

 Sarah Fielding Nottingham Schools Trust and Virtual School  

 Supt. Matthew Healey Nottinghamshire Police  

 Nicky Bridges Primary Schools’ representative (Robin Hood Primary) 

 Helene Denness Public Health, NCC 

 Michelle Strong Secondary Schools’ representative (Bulwell Academy) 

 Karla Capstick Small Steps Big Changes representative (Director) 

 Karla Banfield Strategic Commissioning Manager, NCC 

 Cheryl Steele  Special Schools’ representative (Rosehill School) 

 Stephen McLaren Voluntary Sector  

 Claire Perry Voluntary Sector (Children & Young People’s Provider Network) 

   Young People (Youth Cabinet) 

      

 Indicates present at meeting 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Children's Partnership Board - 23.03.21 
 

2 

 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Rachel Clark,  - Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 

Wellbeing Programme Lead  
Donna Stenton-Groves  - Multisystemic Therapy Team Supervisor 
Paul Crookendale -  Community Partnership Project Development Manager 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor - Governance Officer 
 
 
23  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Police Superintendent Mathew Healey 
Carolyn Tomlinson 
Celine Carling  
Nicky Bridges. 
 
24  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
None 
 
25  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 05 January 2021 were confirmed as a true record and 
were signed by the Chair. 
 
26  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN 2020-2025 UPDATE 

 
Sophie Russell, Head of Children’s Strategy and Improvement, delivered a brief presentation 
updating the Partnership on the Children’s Improvement Plan. The following points were 
highlighted and questions responded to;  
 

a) three of the key priorities the partnership has had were being retained in the Plan and 
in recognition of increased awareness of structural racism and disproportionality, 
including the impact of Covid a fourth priority was to be included to ensure that 
children and young families be heard, which was welcomed by the Board. 

 
b) additional consultation with partner’s activities regarding the Plan needed to be 

undertaken prior to submission to the Board and further exploration of the Governance 
arrangements was needed to ensure that they were streamlined and simplified, 
without losing the current benefits. 
 

c) as such, the Plan would be brought back to the Board in June 2021 once there had 
been the opportunity to complete the consultation.  
 

d) the Participation Strategy would also be presented in June alongside the Plan which 
would be a fluid document with overarching principles but with the flexibility to 
encompass new initiatives.  
 

Resolved that the update on the Children and Young People’s Plan 2020-25 be noted. 
 
 

Page 4



Children's Partnership Board - 23.03.21 
 

3 

27  LOCAL TRANSFORMATION PLAN FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH 

 
Rachel Clark, Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Programme Lead, 
delivered a brief presentation updating the Partnership on the Local Transformation Plan for 
Children and Young People's Mental Health. The following points were highlighted and 
questions responded to; 
 

a) the last refresh was due to be published in January but was delayed to Covid, but will 
be published in September 2021. 
 

b) worked with NHS England and reviewed all aspects of our children and young people 
mental health service. Areas of improvement will be included in the Transformation 
Plan. 
 

c) Mental Health support Teams in schools roll out had been accelerated. MHCT are in 
place to deliver evidence based early intervention and to identify those needing 
additional support for severe needs. 
 

d) at the beginning of the Covid crisis in April 2020 and Urgent and Crisis Care helpline 
went live and was an all age helpline manned 24 hours a day.  

 
e) efforts have been made to ensure that children and young people do not experience 

digital exclusion – screening is being done carried out check what level of access is 
required to reduce those unable to access internet.  

 
f) the Optimisation report identified areas of improvement which included examining 

strategy and governance to ensure it is not solely NHS driven and there is cross 
partnership working. Focus also on data collection and how it can be used to improve 
services. 

 
g) current work is being undertaken to ensure the national target on Eating Disorders is 

being met and examining if additional resource is needed to reach the target. 
 

h) a more inclusive approach is underway that includes not just children but that it 
extends to those aged up to 25, extending to care-leavers who face mental health 
problems.  

 
Resolved that the contents of the presentation be noted. 
 
28  TRAUMA INFORMED PRACTICE 

 
Donna Stenton-Groves, Multisystemic Therapy Team Supervisor delivered a brief 
presentation updating the Partnership on the Trauma Informed Practice. The following points 
were highlighted and questions responded to; 
 

a) a two day training package done in collaboration with Partners including the Youth 
Justice Service. There is a need to be conscious that trauma affects everyone and not 
just the people being supported but also staff who have subsequently suffered trauma 
whilst supporting families.  

 

Page 5



Children's Partnership Board - 23.03.21 
 

4 

b) different types of trauma were identified, both in families and the work place. These 
included experiences of trauma specifically relating to  racial, religious and LGBTQ 
communities 

 
c) a more trauma - informed approach was necessary in order to recognise how best to 

support those who have experienced it.  
 

d) Additional work is being undertaken to bridge the gap between adults and child trauma 
to explore a more inclusive, holistic approach,  
 

e) there has been a minimisation of victims (and families) of trauma having to re-tell their 
experiences to different agencies; it was anticipated that this will reduce repetition and 
re-traumatisation.  
 

f) live story work is being used for children, specifically ‘looked after children’ and 
‘children in care’ which can be done in a trauma informed way. There has been 
emphasis on the use of age appropriate language and picture story-boarding to build 
communication and assessment of children’s tolerance for talking. 
 

g) more trauma informed practices are being embedded into Special and Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) programme and in a number of the educational 
settings. 
 

h) trauma informed approaches of behaviours in children and young people could lead to 
reduction in the number of exclusions in schools 
 

i) children’s integrated services have worked with the therapy team and it was 
recognised that as a partnership, more could be achieved in educating people about 
trauma informed practices though the provision of training. 
 

The Chair thanked Donna for her presentation and for the update provided. 
 
Resolved to note the updated information and the presentation.  
 
29  CYPP PRIORITY: HEARD AND INCLUDED 

 
a   ESTABLISHING YOUTH HUBS ACROSS THE CITY (Agenda Item 7a) 

 
Paul Crookendale, Community Partnership Project Development Manager, Nottingham City 
Council, provided a verbal update of the establishment of Youth Hubs across the City.  
 
The following points were highlighted and questions responded to; 
 

a) 6 youth hubs were being established across the City, each one being different to suit 
the local areas and would be flexible to the type pf support needed to each area. This 
would allow for young people to access more services from one area and provide a 
one stop holistic approach.  
 

b) Some services provided by the DWP such as Job Centre Plus had been placed into 
Youth Hubs. It was anticipated that this would increase the number of people who 

Page 6



Children's Partnership Board - 23.03.21 
 

5 

could access a wide range of services without having to navigate various services 
across the city. 
 

c) There had been some delay in the delivery of youth hubs due to Covid but work was 
ongoing to support young people through collaborative working with Second Chance 
Training ‘Equip to Succeed Programme’ , designed to empower, enable and equip 
young people with a variety of skills.  
 

d) Many young people had been affected by job losses as a result of Covid (in part due 
to their types of employment) and the hubs would offer various types of support. 
 

e) Part of the core offer was to provide skills training through Nottingham College, both 
vocational and soft training which would help to identify transferable skills. 
 

f) By engaging with young people , it was anticipated that there would be a reduction in 
the number of NEETS (not in education, employment or training) 
 

g) The youth hubs would specifically be targeting young people aged 17-25 year olds. 
‘Youth Ambassadors’ would also be employed to promote  the services and to engage 
with youths and assist them through and triage them through services 
 

h) Collaborative work was needed to engage with family hubs. Specific focus would also 
be placed on assisting care leavers 

 
Resolved to note the verbal update given. 
 
b   CHILD FRIENDLY CITY (Agenda Item 7b) 

 
Catherine Underwood, Corporate Director for People (Children and Adults) gave a 
presentation to the Board on the developments of making Nottingham a ‘Child Friendly City’ 
(CFC). 
 
The following points were highlighted and questions responded to; 
 

a) there was a drive to improve the rights and listen to the voices of children creating a 
network of stakeholders across the City; the primary role of this would be to ensure 
that children were aware of their rights, their voices heard and a commitment to 
ensure that children be able to thrive in the local community.  
 

b) recruitment was underway for a Child Friendly City Programme Lead and a light touch 
Governance structure had already been put in place. 
 

c) work had been completed alongside UNICEF and the City Council had been able to 
benefit from their extensive knowledge and expertise.  
 

d) a high profile launch of the imitative would be done once the consultation process had 
been delivered and considered.  
 

e) there would be engagement with local schools to allow them understand the 
mechanisms to be used in the creation of the CFC and to ensure that children were 

Page 7



Children's Partnership Board - 23.03.21 
 

6 

integrated into the initiative to ensure a strong and vibrant link between children of 
school age and the CFC. 
 

Resolved to note the progress of the Child Friendly City status. 
 
30  PARTNERSHIP UPDATE: NOT IN EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT OF 

TRAINING (NEETS), POST 16/ SUPPORTING RE-ENGAGEMENT OF 
YOUNG PEOPLE POST-LOCKDOWN 
 

a   FUTURES (Agenda Item 8a) 
 

Amanda Payne, Operations Manager (Young people's services) Futures, gave a verbal update 

on young people Not in Education, Employment of Training (NEETs), Post 16/ supporting re-
engagement of young people post-lockdown. 
 
The following points were highlighted and questions responded to; 
 

a) there were numerous NEET categories defined by the Department for Education (DfE)  
 

b) alongside NEET, there was also focus placed on those people who were defined as 
‘not engaging. As of the 16th March 2021, 5.5% of young people were defined as 
NEET with the ‘Not knowns’ making up just 0.5% of those figures, equating to 34 
young people in total.  
 

c) there was engagement with schools to identify priority groups, the main agenda being 
to raise aspirations and improve employability. 
 

d) those SEND were statistically more likely to join the NEET category and additional 
support was being offered to them.  
 

e) there was a blended approach for assisting NEETs at a time when there had been a 
number of lost available placements and a lack of engagement in part due to Covid.  
 

f) there had not been a marked increase in the numbers of NEETs across the core cities, 
but the record of those ‘Not Known’ had, on average, fluctuated above the figures for 
Nottingham City, which had seen the overall numbers of Not Knowns’ decrease. 

 
Resolved to note the updated information. 
 
b   NOTTINGHAM COLLEGE (Agenda Item 8b) 

 
Having sent his apologies, Phil Briscoe, Principle of Nottingham College was unable to give an 
update and as such the item was deferred.  
 
31  KEY MESSAGES AND ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

 
Maria Ward (Maintained Primary School Governor) noted her thanks to all of the school 
governors who had, with local authorities, offered their support to staff and pupils of the City 
Schools specifically during the pandemic. 
 
The Chair echoed her thanks and noted the important role that they played. 

Page 8



Children's Partnership Board - 23.03.21 
 

7 

 
32  SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

 
Having been deferred from the agenda, the Nottingham College update would be heard at a 
future meeting. 
 
33  PROPOSED DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

 
The next meeting was confirmed as the 29 July 2021 at 4pm 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Nottingham City 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S PLAN 
2021-2024 

 

 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



 
 

Foreword 
 

As Chair of the Children's Partnership, I am proud to say that our partnership remains strong and committed to improving the lives 

of Nottingham's children, young people and families. 

I am delighted to present this refreshed plan, which is written to reflect the views of Nottingham's children, young people, families 

and communities. 

Whilst our vision, values and priorities remain similar to those in our last plan, we've used 2020-21 as an opportunity to stop, 

reflect and engage with children and young people. Developing this plan in the context of a global pandemic and thinking about 

other societal changes, like the growth of the Black Lives Matter movement, and the particular challenges faced by disadvantaged 

and marginalised groups, has made us think about where we want to focus our energies as a partnership. 

We know that reductions to public sector spending and increased demands on all partners are likely to make this a challenging 

time for us all. This makes it more important than ever that all partners come together to keep children and young people at the 

heart of all that we do. We remain ambitious for children and young people in Nottingham City. We will work in partnership with all 

partners, including parents and carers, to ensure that children and young people receive the help that they need as soon as it is 

needed.  

Our approach will be graduated and proportionate. We will act in the best interests of all children, particularly those who are 

vulnerable or who may be more isolated, including children with complex needs, special educational needs and disabilities, young 

carers, those who need help and protection and our children in care and care leavers. 

This plan sets out how we will work together over the next three years to make a difference for children, young people and 

families. 

 

 

Councillor Cheryl Barnard, Portfolio 

Holder for Children and Young 

People and Chair of the Children’s 

Partnership Board 

P
age 12



 
 

 
The Role of the Children’s Partnership: 

 
The Children’s Partnership brings together partners and 

programmes to make sure we have a whole-system approach to 

making things better for our citizens. The role of the partnership 

is to create a space for partners to share information, identify 

opportunities to integrate our work, support one another to 

change and transform the system and overcome the barriers and 

challenges we may face. The Children’s Partnership works 

alongside other groups and Boards, who also have a role to play 

in keeping our children and young people safe (Nottingham City 

Safeguarding Children’s Partnership), healthy (Health and 

Wellbeing Board) and looking after children in our care 

(Corporate Parenting Board).  

The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) sets out the shared 

vision, values and priorities for partners. Representatives from 

partner agencies have agreed this plan and commit to ensuring 

that this informs other plans and strategies.  

The CYPP is an overarching framework for our work. It will be 

supported by four key underpinning strategies and frameworks. 

They are: 

1) Our Participation and Engagement Strategy 

2) A Joint Commissioning Strategy 

3) The Workforce Development Strategy 

4) A Children’s Partnership Performance Framework 

 
 

 

 

P
age 13



 
 

 

Views of children and young people: 
 
We've taken every opportunity to engage with children and young people and get their views, including an engagement session 
between representatives of the Youth Cabinet and members of Children's Partnership Board, a Youth Leadership Conference and 
surveys to find out about young people’s experiences of Covid-19. 
 
Young people have told us about the things that they are proud 
of about Nottingham: 
 

 Nottingham is a tolerant city, which values diversity. 

 There are lots of opportunities to access entertainment, 
arts and culture. 

 Public transport is affordable, provides good coverage 
and is safe. 

 
They've also told us about what they'd like to see more of: 
 

 Safe places for children and young people to go. 

 Opportunities to get involved and participate, developing 
wider life skills. 

 Pathways for young people into vocational provision, 
apprenticeships, college or work. 

 Work to tackle inequality and discrimination, including 
development of a more inclusive curriculum.  

 Support to meet their emotional and mental health 
needs. 

 Increased use of digital and tech-enabled methods of 
communicating with, and supporting, young people 

 
 

 

 

P
age 14



 
 

 
 

Our Vision: 
 

A city where every child can enjoy their childhood in a warm and supportive 
environment, free from poverty and safe from harm; a city where every child grows up to 

achieve their full potential. 
 

Our Values: 
 

1) Children and young people are at the heart of all that we do. 
2) We will ensure that children, young people and families can access the right help at 

the right time. 
3) We will work with, not do to, children, young people and families.  
4) We will listen to, and act on, the views of children, young people and communities. 

 
Children, young people and families in Nottingham will be: 

 
Heard and Included 
Happy and Healthy 
Safe and Supported 

Learning and Achieving 
 

P
age 15



 
 

Heard and Included: 
 
As our key partners, children young people and families will be listened to and involved in the decisions that 
affect their lives.  We will work with children and families to build on strengths and help them to find their own 
solutions. We will create a culture of participation, engagement and co-production in Nottingham City.  

 
To ensure children, young people and families are heard and included we will work to: 

 
1) Strengthen opportunities for participation, engagement and co-production 
 
Ensuring that children, young people, families and communities have a voice is critical 
and working together to ensure those voices are heard and acted upon is a key 
responsibility of the Children's Partnership. 

 
2) Understand the barriers to equality and inclusion and tackle discrimination 
and disproportionality.  
 
It is important that people have fair and equal access to help and opportunities. We 
will not tolerate discrimination in any form. We will challenge inequalities and 
disproportionality.  
The long-term impact of Covid-19 is likely to widen the gaps and impact our most 
vulnerable children and families. Work to strengthen financial resilience, reduce the 
digital divide and promote cohesion in our communities will be a key priority moving 
forward. 

 
3) Build community capacity and resources so young people have safe places 
to go and people to support them  
 
Young people have told us how important it is that they have safe places to go and 
people to talk to. TheCity is lucky to have a wealth of voluntary and community 
organisations who do great work with children and young people. We will work 
together with these organisations and the private sector, wherever possible, as a vital 
community resource. 
 

 

P
age 16



 
 

4) Support young people as they prepare for and transition to adulthood  
 
Helping young people to prepare for and make a successful transition to adulthood is our final priority. Accessing education, employment and 
training and other support can be a challenge. We will work together to think about pathways of support to help build the skills for success as 
an independent adult. 
 
5) Support children and young people with a Special Education Need and/or Disabilities (SEND) and their families 

 
Nottingham City’s Local Area partnership is ambitious to continue to improve outcomes for children and young people with a SEN and/or 
disability and their families; the co-production of services with families and listening to the voices of children and young people; and 
partnership working across all agencies to promote health, care and education needs of children, young people and their families. 

 

Key actions to deliver: 
 
Further actions and a more detailed delivery plan will be developed by the Heard and Included Sub Group.  

 

 

P
age 17



 
 

Happy and Healthy: 
 
From pregnancy and throughout the life course babies, children, young people and families will be healthier, 
more emotionally resilient and better able to make decisions about their health and wellbeing. 
 
To promote the happiness and health of children, young people and families 
we will work to: 

 
1) Improve the health and wellbeing of parents and babies  
 
Giving children the best start in life is key. Improving maternal health and 
ensuring parents can access good antenatal and midwifery care is vital to this. 
Through a strengths-based approach, parents and carers will be supported in 
their role as the early educator to help form the attachment needed for their 
child/ren to thrive.  

 
2) Improve the emotional and mental health and wellbeing of 

children, young people and families  
 

Good mental and emotional wellbeing underpins so much of our lives. We will 
ensure that children, young people, parents and carers are able to access the 
help they need to meet their mental health needs. 

 
3) Improve the physical health of children and young people and 

support children with long-term conditions. 
 

Ensuring that children's physical health needs are met will help to address 
challenges for Nottingham's children, including childhood obesity and poor 
dental health. Helping children and their families to manage long-term 
conditions, like asthma or diabetes, is also a priority.  

 
 

P
age 18



 
 

4) Reduce the impact of substance misuse on children and young people  
 
To minimise the impact of substance misuse on children and young people, all partners will work with parents and carers to understand the 
impact and to make achievable changes to their lifestyle. 

 

Key actions to deliver: 
 
Further actions and a more detailed delivery plan will be developed by the Happy and Healthy Sub Group.  

 

 
 
 

P
age 19



 
 

Safe and Supported: 
 
Children, young people and families will benefit from early and effective help and protection to empower them to 
overcome difficulties and provide a safe environment in which to thrive.  
 
Safeguarding children and supporting them to live safely at home is a shared priority and responsibility. The Children’s Partnership Board 
works closely with the Nottingham City Safeguarding Children’s Partnership to ensure alignment of our plans and priorities to keep children 
safe.  

To ensure that children, young people and families feel safe and supported we will work to: 

 
1) Intervene early to prevent needs escalating 
 
Nottingham has a long history as an early intervention city and we remain committed to 
making a difference for children at the earliest opportunity to stop needs escalating. There 
are clear opportunities and challenges for early help services across the partnership, so 
developing a clear vision and strategy for early help and intervention is a priority for the 
Children's Partnership moving forwards. 

 
2) Help parents, promoting healthy relationships and embedding a whole family 
approach 
 
Children and young people need strong families and wider networks of support to help them 
to thrive. Helping parents to develop good parenting skills, focussing on building healthy 
relationships within families and tackling domestic abuse will help to create safe and secure 
home environments where children can grow and develop.  

 
3) Embed contextual safeguarding and trauma-informed approaches 
 
We recognise that not all of the harm to children and young people happens in the home or 
within the family. Understanding the contextual risks that children face within their wider 
networks, online and in their community, will help us tackle extra-familial abuse, exploitation 
and crime. Understanding how trauma and adverse experiences impact life chances and 
working to design services and support that do not re-traumatise children, young people and 
adults is central to our next steps as a partnership.   

 

P
age 20



 
 

 

Key actions to deliver: 
 

Further actions and a more detailed delivery plan will be developed by the Safe and Supported Sub Group.  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 21



 
 

Learning and Achieving: 
 
All children and young people will leave school with the best skills and qualifications they can achieve and will be 
ready for independence, work or further learning. 
 
To help children to learn and achieve we will work to: 

 
1) Ensure that children are ready for school  
 
Ensuring that children have access to early learning opportunities is a priority for the City. 
This will help them to develop speech and language skills, reach developmental 
milestones and get them ready for learning at school. 

 
2) Support all children to make good progress and improve attainment and 

achievement.  
 
We want all children to start school with the skills they need to achieve in line with their 
peers. We will focus on improving attainment, ensuring all children make progress and 
build resilience.  

 
3) Improve attendance at school and reducing exclusions  
 
For children to learn and achieve, they need to attend school regularly. Reducing 
persistent absence and exclusion from school have been long-standing priorities for the 
partnership and will remain so.  

 
4) Ensure children and young people have access to a range of good quality 

educational opportunities to meet their needs  
 
Children and young people have said that they want to be able to access a broad and 
balanced curriculum, as well as vocational learning opportunities. 

 

 

 

P
age 22



 
 

Key actions to deliver: 
 

Further actions and a more detailed delivery plan will be developed by the Learning and Achieving Sub Group.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 23



 
 

 
How will we work together? 
 
The Children’s Partnership will continue to meet every three months. It will be chaired by the Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People. 
Senior partners will be represented.  
 
We will work to establish a sub-group for each themed area of our work, chaired by a partner agency. Sub-group meetings will also take place 
quarterly. Sub-groups will bring together the work and programmes that are being delivered, identify gaps and overcome barriers. They will 
work to develop and drive clear action plans to make a real and tangible difference for children, young people and families in Nottingham. 
Each sub-group will feed back into the Children’s Partnership at each meeting.  
 
Each sub-group will also contribute to the supporting strategies and frameworks to ensure that participation and engagement, development 
of the workforce, joint commissioning and a clear performance framework underpin all of our work.  
 
We will work to increase the representation of our communities, parents/carers and children and young people to ensure that their voice is 
heard. We will work closely with the Youth Cabinet, Primary Parliament and maximise all other opportunities to hear the views and 
experiences of children and young people. Their voice will inform our delivery plans moving forwards.  
 
We will strengthen our links as a partnership to the Health and Wellbeing Board, Nottingham City Safeguarding Children Partnership and 
Corporate Parenting Board to make sure that our work is integrated with the wider opportunities to improve outcomes for children, young 
people and families in Nottingham.  
 

 
 

P
age 24



Children’s Partnership Board – 29 June 2021 

Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy 2021-25 

 

CONTENTS 

Foreword: Definition of participation 

1. Introduction  

2. Aims of the strategy 

3. Drivers for doing participation work 

4. What is working well 

5. Our commitments  

Appendix 1 - Types of Participation 

 

DEFINITION OF PARTICIPATION 

This strategy has been created to help improve opportunities for children and young 

people to be heard, and have more influence over the decisions which affect their 

lives and the world they live in. We call this process participation. The words 

engagement, involvement, active citizenship, co-production and co-creation are 

sometimes also used to describe the same process.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



1. INTRODUCTION  

One of the principal aims of the Nottingham City Children’s Partnership is to 

empower children and young people to participate meaningfully in decision-making, 

in all aspects of their lives. Sharing views, expressing opinions and articulating ideas 

for change are qualities that make children and young people safer, healthier, 

happier and better skilled for life. 

As a Partnership, when we listen to the views of children and young people and 

involve them in decision-making, we learn more about what we have to do to support 

them to achieve good outcomes in life. We can design and deliver services that more 

closely meet their needs, and we can more openly share power and responsibility 

with them. This helps children and young people develop the skills and experience 

they need for their adult lives. Participation is at the heart of a successful childhood, 

and a successful adulthood too. 

The setting and context for participation changes depending on where the child is 

and what their needs are at the time we listen to them. Their individual, social and 

public participation needs require different understanding and approaches.1 

Participation can take place 

• at individual level, for example as with a child in care making their wishes and feelings known 

to the services that work with them, and taking part in planning for their own care and support 

• in social environments, for example in a youth group, where young people can be encouraged 

to share their opinions and ideas for change, and empowered to create new activities and projects led 

by the young people themselves 

• in more formal group settings and meetings with organisations, for example through co-

creative activities which bring children and young people into the heart of the development of services 

and strategies, policies and plans 

Our strategy aims to ensure each child has opportunity for meaningful participation 

across all three contexts, depending on the needs and aspirations of the individual 

when and where we listen to them. We should be able to demonstrate through clear 

evidence the impact their voice has on shaping decisions made about their life, and 

on improving services for them. 

1. A more detailed description of these participation settings can found in Appendix One 

 

Page 26



 

Fig 1: Participation settings 

 

 

 

 

As the above model shows, the setting for participation may vary. But wherever and 

whenever participation takes place it is always underpinned by the same ethos and 

commitment to the child’s right to be heard, enshrined in the United Nations 

Convention of the Rights of the Child. Participation is therefore everyone’s 

responsibility. Thankfully, the skills we need to enable and empower a child to have 

their say are not hard to learn, nor do they take years to acquire! We can all be 

participation workers, whatever our role and whatever our organisation. 

Since the inception of the Children’s Partnership, our vision for participation has 

been for Nottingham to be a city where all children, young people and families are 

listened to and involved in the decisions that affect their lives.  

While this vision is still compelling, we recognise that there has been uneven 

progress towards achieving this goal, with particular challenges around maintaining a 

culture of participation in the workforce, applying consistent processes to support the 

voice of the child and evidence its impact on outcomes, and ensuring participation of 

the most vulnerable children and young people. 

Making meaningful involvement in decision-making a lived reality for young citizens 

is a challenge to all public and voluntary sector partners. This strategy lays out how 

we can respond to this challenge in Nottingham City, using the motivation and 

combined capacity of the Children’s Partnership partners.  

A strong participation culture contributes to the goals of the new Children and Young 

People’s Plan, Strategic Council Plan, and underpins the transformation of our 

services for children and families in the City. It will also make a major contribution 

towards our goal of becoming a UNICEF2 Child-Friendly City. But most importantly, it 

will improve the lives of the children and young people we all serve. 

2. UNICEF - the United Nations Children’s Fund 

INDIVIDUAL SOCIAL PUBLIC 

Page 27



2. AIMS OF THE STRATEGY 

The latest version of the strategy addresses the current and future needs for children 

and young people’s participation. We want the culture of participation already in 

place to grow and thrive, and act as a driver for other positive outcomes for the 

children and young people we work with and serve. 

Using a whole-partnership approach, this strategy aims to: 

• Better understand how to support participation of vulnerable children and 

young people and improve practice to keep all children and young people safe and 

well 

• Increase the range and depth of participation activity by children and young 

people, giving them more opportunities to have their say and leading to greater 

impact in the way that services and organisations respond to their needs and 

aspirations 

• Increase use and availability of technology and improve the culture of virtual 

contact to complement face to face contact to extend the range of opportunities for 

participation 

• Instil a greater sense of responsibility by all partners and at all levels of 

leadership, management and delivery, that participation is everyone’s business, and 

participation culture is integral to the success of their mission 

• Apply participation values and principles to all aspects of Children’s 

Partnership work, so that empowering the voice and involvement of children and 

young people is giving high priority throughout our work 

• Enable partners to better share planning and resources for participation, to 

increase the capacity of the partnerships to respond to demands for participation 

work  

3. DRIVERS FOR DOING PARTICIPATION WORK 

Participation drivers come from a range of legislative, policy and best practice 

imperatives. 

Page 28



Foremost, Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 

states that children and young people have a right to have their say. Their views 

need to be taken seriously in all matters which affect them, and government 

organisations should actively engage them in decision-making. The UK Government 

is a signatory to the Convention, and this ethos underpins a range of national and 

local level drivers. 

Participation objectives features commonly in the work, plans and organisational 

cultures of our partners. Good participation and engagement is essential to 

evidencing good services, that are acting in the best interests of children and 

supporting them to achieve positive outcomes. The refresh of the Children and 

Young People’s Plan has a priority around being Heard and Included, including 

‘Creating opportunities for participation, engagement and co-production’, to help 

support this in the Children’s Partnership. 

External inspection and review criteria are used to analyse and assess the efficacy 

of voice of the child work. Some of this is best practice-based rather than statutory, 

however some work is statutory such as the Children and Families SEN Act which 

places a requirement to involve children and young people with special educational 

need and disabilities, and their families and carers, in the development and delivery 

of the local offer. 

More broadly for the Partnership, here is a significant focus in the City on increasing 

participation and inclusion of under-represented and marginalised communities, 

supporting work to tackle discrimination and disproportionality, and ensure better 

community cohesion. 

One of the guiding principles of the UNICEF Child Friendly City programme is 

participation in decision-making by young citizens. Children and young people 

participation in the design and delivery of Nottingham’s Child Friendly City plan is 

central to its success. 

4. WHAT IS WORKING WELL 

Participation has been a feature of the Children and Young People’s Plan since its 

inception, and over the past decade we have developed a very positive culture 

around engaging and involving children and young people in decision-making. In 

Page 29



refreshing this strategy, we know that some things have worked well and need to 

continue to be taken forward. 

The Participation in Governance Programme, an annual calendar of group and social 

participation events and activities, has given the Children’s Partnership a range of 

forums through which to engage children and young people, and involve them in 

conversations about both operational issues and wider strategic change and 

visioning.  

Within the programme, standing groups such as Youth Cabinet and the Children in 

Care Council, and assemblies such as Youth Council and Primary Parliament 

provide an important stage for consultation and co-production work, and they provide 

partners with a rich source of both qualitative and quantitative information. These 

groups input into not only Children’s Partnership work but also Council Plan and 

citywide partnership agendas, covering a broad range of themes. 

The Children in Care Council is a monthly group for care experienced young people 

which has co-produced numerous processes to improve the voice of the child with 

children’s social care services. They developed the Children in Care and Care 

Leavers charter, which in turn led to the annual Have Your Say survey for Children in 

Care and Care Leavers. The results of this survey are used to identify areas for 

improvement in the Corporate Parenting action plan. Members of the Corporate 

Parenting Board meet periodically with the Children in Care Council to explore these 

key themes together. 

In addition, members of the Children in Care Council and Youth Cabinet contribute to 

recruitment and selection of SLMG-level staff, and also take part in social worker 

training activity and assessment, helping quality assure the Children’s Partnership 

workforce. 

Since 2020, bi-annual Youth Leadership conferences run by the Youth Cabinet have 

expanded the network of peer-led youth leadership across the Children’s 

Partnership, bringing together young leaders from education, community, faith and 

work sectors to share in discussion and problem solving, alongside a broad range of 

partners. 

Page 30



With regard to widening ways for children and young people to have their say, we 

have introduced new platforms for participation which use digital tools, including the 

Mind of My Own app for Children in Care and Children in Need. The strategy for 

Mind of my Own has recently been refreshed and a new cohort of workers trained in 

how to use it. Meanwhile, during the lockdown digital platforms such as Teams and 

Zoom have facilitated one-to-one contact and group meetings. This has removed 

barriers to the acceptance of the merits and functional ease of virtual engagement, 

and a recognition that for some young people virtual is a more practical (and 

preferred) medium for participation. Children in Care living outside the local area, 

and children and young people with disabilities are just two examples of those who 

have been able to take part who might otherwise have not done so, due to digital 

tools, 

Other Children’s Partnership partners have also firmly embedded the voice of the 

child within their work and established a strong culture of participation throughout 

their organisation. From the outset of the programme, Small Steps Big Changes 

placed participation values at the heart of its work with families. Parents and carers 

helped shape the programme’s planning, delivery and governance structure, and 

children’s views are used to shape the development of the programme. As Small 

Steps Big Changes moves into the final phase of its ten-year-long journey, we need 

to ensure that the progress made in establishing a culture of participation in early 

years’ services endures beyond the funded work currently in place.   

The development of citywide learning engagement platforms in recent years has 

greatly broadened the scope of opportunities for engagement in participative 

learning, both in and out of school. The Challenge Cultural Education Partnership, 

the Festival of Science and Curiosity and the annual RSE Day3 programmes are all 

premised on enabling and empowering children and young people to have their say 

and express themselves through cultural enquiry, artistic creativity, scientific curiosity 

and self-awareness. Such programmes make a profound contribution to the capacity 

of children to articulate their views, experiences and ideas for change, and are a 

valuable resource for the Children’s Partnership. 

3. Relationship and Sexual Health Education Day 

 

Page 31



5.  OUR COMMITMENTS 

To improve opportunities for the participation of children in need of help and 

protection, we will:  

• Bring oversight of internal processes for participation by Children in Care, 

SEND and Children in Need under a single management process, sponsored by 

senior officers within Children’s Integrated Services.  

• Better link children and young people’s voice to practice improvement by 

improving feedback and recording on case file and increasing auditing, increasing 

involvement of CYP in ‘practice weeks’, and improving internal diagnostic activity. 

• Strengthen links to SEND participation providers, refresh the Your Voice for 

Care Leavers group, and develop opportunities for participation within Youth Justice 

Service, following inspection.  

• Develop creative models within the Reviewing Service to encouraging 

meaningful participation in reviews and better recording, feedback and action  

• Use the voice of young people to shape culture and language of care, through 

joint work between practice forum and CiC Council 

• Review advocacy contract arrangements to try to maximise the participation 

resource for Child Protection cases 

To improve our partnership culture of participation to give young people a voice in 

decisions that affect them, we will: 

• Set up a Partnership level steering group, to enable partners to share practice 

and oversee progress of the Participation Strategy and own actions for their own 

improvement initiatives 

• Improve the range of participation process available to vulnerable children 

and young people, including more options for virtual engagement using digital tools 

and platforms, and improving the level of workforce support for this 

• Strengthening oversight and reporting arrangements for commissioned work 

including SEND and Young Carer participation 

Page 32



• Continue to strengthen the role of partners in delivery of our shared corporate 

parenting responsibility.  

• Strengthen partnerships for participation, including links to schools through 

DSL Network around voice of the child and work with VCS to support wider 

representation and diversity of voices 

• Support and promote participation-based approaches in citywide learning 

engagement partnerships, including the Challenge Cultural Education Partnership, 

Festival of Science and Curiosity, and RSE Day 

• Support and contribute to the development of Nottingham’s Child Friendly City 

plan 

• Support the Workforce Strategy objectives for co-productive partnership 

working and work with regional local authority partners through the East Midlands 

Regional Participation Leads Group, contributing to the Regional Improvement Plan 

• Report annually to the Children’s Partnership Board on the outcome of the 

strategy, and celebrate the work done by children and young people to influence 

decision-making across the Partnership. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



APPENDIX 1  

Types of Participation 

Participation is the meaningful involvement by citizens in the decision-making processes 

which affect their lives. This definition, and the typology of participation described in this 

strategy has been developed by the East Midlands Regional Participation Leads Group and 

agreed by the Regional Directors of Children’s Services. The three types of participation are: 

Individual participation - where a child is involved in the planning and design of their own 

service plan or pathway plan, including for example care pathways, personalised budgets, 

personal education and health plans. Ensuring the individual child is supported and 

empowered to have a say in decisions about their life and can meaningfully influence the 

way in which they receive services is the bedrock of good participation practice. This type is 

most relevant to participation in targeted and specialist settings, and the focus of most 

participation work in Children’s Integrated Services and those partner agencies working with 

vulnerable children and young people. Children in care, children with disabilities and children 

in need all have the right to be heard in their journey with our services. It is our job to ensure 

they have lots of ways to have their say, wherever they are, and use their views to shape the 

best possible decisions about their care and support. Evidence impacts on individual 

outcomes, but can also be aggregated to inform operational and strategic decision making. 

Social participation – engagement in participation in settings where children and young 

people find themselves day to day, for example in community-based youth and play 

provisions, at school or college, or in community-level services; or through specific social 

action projects or volunteering programmes, where young citizens are involved in activities 

and programmes. This is particularly relevant to Children’s Partnership play, youth, 

education and voluntary sector partners who engage and serve the needs of children and 

young people at community level. Outcomes of social participation can impact on operational 

decision-making, and help develop understanding of strategic needs too. 

Public participation - typically through involvement of children and young people in organised 

groups or forums that promote self-led decision-making; through participation in surveys and 

consultations; engagement in activities linked to quality assurance and improvement of 

services, such as recruitment and selection, worker training or peer-led inspection; and 

representation on formal boards and committees. Shaping and informing decision making 

through co-productive activity, with potential to make both strategic as well as operational 

impact, and contribute to organisational governance. 

Page 34



Children and Young People’s 
Participation Strategy 2021-25

For Nottingham City Children’s Partnership Board

Jon Rea, Engagement & Participation Lead, Nottingham City Council
jon.rea@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

P
age 35



CYP Participation Strategy 2021-25

Created to help improve opportunities for children and young people 
to be heard, and have more influence over the decisions which affect 
their lives and the world they live in. 
This process is called participation. The words engagement,
involvement, active citizenship, co-production and co-creation are 
sometimes also used to describe the same process. 
The strategy is for all members of the Children’s Partnership, to help us 
grow a culture of participation across all of our work, and make the 
voice of children and young people’s stronger and more influential.
This is everybody’s business, and everybody has a part to play.

P
age 36



What is gained from a good participation culture?

Sharing views, expressing opinions and articulating ideas contributes to 
a safe, healthy and happy childhood.
When we listen to the views of children and young people and involve 
them in decision-making, we can also
• learn more about what we have to do to support them to achieve good outcomes in life 
• design and deliver services that more closely meet their needs
• more openly share power and responsibility with them
• help children and young people develop the skills and experience they need not only for 

childhood but also for their adult lives

To do this well we need to apply some principles and good practice.

P
age 37



Why do we do this?

The drivers for participation are numerous, and include both statutory 
and non-statutory imperatives, including:

• Article 12 of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child
• Children and Young People’s Plan
• Organisational strategies and plans
• External inspection and best practice review
• Citywide governance and learning engagement partnerships
• Child Friendly Nottingham

P
age 38



Different approaches for different situations

The strategy aims to empower children and young people to participate in 
decision-making across a range of contexts, depending on where and when 
they want to have their voice heard.

• at individual level
• in social environments
• in more formal group settings and meetings

In all contexts we should be able to demonstrate through clear evidence the 
impact their voice has on shaping decisions made about their life, and on 
improving services and organisations.

P
age 39



Different contexts for participation

INDIVIDUAL PUBLICSOCIAL

P
age 40



Developing our participation culture

We’ve been doing this work for some time, so we have a good base 
from which to grow our participation culture.
• Annual Participation in Governance programme, with a calendar of standing group 

meetings in place to make sure we hear the voice of children and young people
• Consultation and co-production is a regular feature of this work, covering a broad range 

of themes, accessible by all partners
• CiC Council work informs the Corporate Parenting Board, influencing service 

improvement, better systems to evidence participation, and workforce development
• Growing use of digital and virtual tools to widen access and respond to needs of users
• Strong platforms for participation in citywide learning engagement partnerships
• Board partners have embedded participation in their programmes, for example Small 

Steps Big Changes

P
age 41



Aims of a whole-partnership approach

• Better understand how to support participation of vulnerable children and 
young people and improve practice 

• Increase the range and depth of participation activity - more opportunities, 
leading to greater impact 

• Increase use and availability of technology to improve virtual participation
• Instil a greater sense of responsibility by all partners, at all levels, making 

participation culture integral to the success of their mission
• Apply participation values and principles to all aspects of Children’s 

Partnership work, and give it high priority throughout our work
• Enable partners to better share planning and resources for participation, to 

increase the capacity to respond to demands for participation work 

P
age 42



To improve opportunities for the participation of children in 
need of help and protection, we will: 

Bring oversight of internal processes for participation by Children in Care, SEND and Children in Need under a single 
management process, sponsored by senior officers within Children’s Integrated Services. 

Better link children and young people’s voice to practice improvement by improving feedback and recording on case file and 
increasing auditing, increasing involvement of CYP in ‘practice weeks’, and improving internal diagnostic activity.

Strengthen links to SEND participation providers, refresh the Your Voice for Care Leavers group, and develop opportunities 
for participation within Youth Justice Service, following inspection. 

Develop creative models within the Reviewing Service to encouraging meaningful participation in reviews and better 
recording, feedback and action 

Use the voice of young people to shape culture and language of care, through joint work between practice forum and CiC 
Council

Review advocacy contract arrangements to try to maximise the participation resource for Child Protection cases

P
age 43



To improve our partnership culture of participation to give 
young people a voice in decisions that affect them, we will:
Set up a Partnership level steering group, to enable partners to share practice and oversee progress of the Participation
Strategy and own actions for their own improvement initiatives

Improve the range of participation process available to vulnerable children and young people, including more options for
virtual engagement using digital tools and platforms, and improving the level of workforce support for this

Strengthen oversight and reporting arrangements for commissioned work including SEND and Young Carer participation

Continue to strengthen the role of partners in delivery of our shared corporate parenting responsibility.

Strengthen partnerships for participation, including links to schools through DSL Network around voice of the child and work
with VCS to support wider representation and diversity of voices

Support and promote participation-based approaches in citywide learning engagement partnerships, including the Challenge
Cultural Education Partnership, Festival of Science and Curiosity, and RSE Day

Support and contribute to the development of Nottingham’s Child Friendly City plan

Support the Workforce Strategy objectives for co-productive partnership working and work with regional local authority
partners through the East Midlands Regional Participation Leads Group, contributing to the Regional Improvement Plan

Report annually to the Children’s Partnership Board on the outcome of the strategy, and celebrate the work done by children
and young people to influence decision-making across the Partnership

P
age 44



Children and Young People’s 
Participation Strategy 2021-25

For Nottingham City Children’s Partnership Board

Jon Rea, Engagement & Participation Lead, Nottingham City Council
jon.rea@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 

Title of paper: A summary of the work linked to the creation of a Speech, Language 
and Communication Pathway for Nottingham City 

Report to: Children’s Partnership Board 

Date: 29th June 2021 

Relevant Director: Catherine Underwood Wards affected: All 

Contact Officer(s) 
and contact details: 

Kathryn Bouchlaghem, Early Years Manager 
Kathryn.bouchlaghem@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

Other officers who 
have provided input: 

Nick Lee, Director of Education 
Nicholas.lee@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 
Katherine Crossley, Early Years Project Officer 
Katherine.crossley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

 

Relevant Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) priority or priorities: 
Safeguarding and supporting children and families: Children, young people and families 
will benefit from early and effective support and protection to empower them to overcome 
difficulties and provide a safe environment in which to thrive. 

X 

Promoting the health and wellbeing of babies, children and young people: From 
pregnancy and throughout life, babies, children, young people and families will be healthier, 
more emotionally resilient and better able to make informed decisions about their health and 
wellbeing. 

X 

Supporting achievement and academic attainment: All children and young people will 
leave school with the best skills and qualifications they can achieve and will be ready for 
independence, work or further learning. 

X 

Empowering families to be strong and achieve economic wellbeing: More families will 
be empowered and able to deal with family issues and child poverty will be significantly 
reduced. 

X 

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to customers/service users): 

Local Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) data evidences that children and young 
people of Nottingham are not developing in communication and language and literacy to the best 
of their potential, with scores consistently below the national average.   
The vision for the City is for all of the City’s 0-5 year olds to develop speech, language and 
communication (SLC) skills to the best of their individual potential and preparing them to be 
ready for school, positively impacting on their attachment, attainment, leisure, mental health, 
wellbeing, later employment and ultimately improve life chances.  The need for this vision has 
been accelerated by the recent COVID-19 global pandemic.  The vision also incorporates an 
intention to extend the age range, so that this strategy covers children and young people up to 
age 25 in the future, in order to reduce inequalities in health and contribute to positive wellbeing, 
increased life chances in terms of employment and reduction in youth offending. 
 
The LGA Peer Challenge in 2019 recommended a collaboratively produced, city wide, 0-5’s Early 
Years Strategy with a particular focus on SLC, alongside recommendations to accelerate the 
integrated approach for the 2 ½ year check and increasing participation in the free entitlement 
hours for eligible 2, 3 and 4 year olds to support the earlier identification of children in need of 
support or interventions with their SLC.  These latter two recommendations feature as collective 
aims in the draft SLC Strategy 0-5 years for Nottingham City, which is due to go the Health & 
Wellbeing Board, who oversee the governance of, and are accountable for, this work. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Kathryn.bouchlaghem@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:Nicholas.lee@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:Katherine.crossley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 2 

The proposed collective aims within the draft Strategy are: 

 Joint commissioners must ensure that commissioning supports the delivery of a whole 
systems model including universal, targeted and specialist offer delivered seamlessly from 
a child and family perspective. 

 Data sharing agreements across agencies in order to ensure that the outcome is achieved 
of no child or family missing out on support from any part of the system. 

 Integrated 2 year checks are crucial to providing a robust system of universal 
identification.  Although not mandatory, given Nottingham’s level of identified and 
predicted need, this must be a necessary intervention across the early years system 
(health/childcare/education). 

 A strategic approach to engagement of families in take up of the 2, 3 and 4 year old offer.  
This supports economic growth, school readiness and identification of need. 

 Integration of the 0-5 workforce, with identified baseline training and 
assessment/understanding of the screening process.   

 
It is hoped that by having a citywide 0-5 years SLC Strategy, a golden thread of expectation and 

a robust infrastructure across the partnership taking into consideration commissioning 

arrangements of statutory health and education assessments, that our parents, carers and 

youngest children will be fully supported with the early identification of SLC needs, avoiding 

duplication and preparing for school readiness.  

 

Recommendations: 

1 That the Children’s Partnership Board support the development of an SLC Strategy for the 
City and integrate and embed this work into wider strategies and work plans to ensure 
maximum impact. 

2  
 

3  
 

 

1. BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS  
(Explanatory detail and background to the recommendations) 
“Supporting families to give their babies the best start for life will ultimately result in far 
greater levels of school readiness and a significant reduction on youth problems, such as 
anti-social behaviour, poor mental health, drug use and gang membership.  There can be no 
greater contribution to levelling up across the nation” (p113, The Best Start for Life; A Vision 
for the 1,001 Critical Days, March 2021). 

 
Nottingham City Children’s Services have been involved in some innovative and ground-
breaking work with Leicester and Derby City Councils and Better Communication CIC having 
secured some external funding through the Early Outcomes Fund (DfE 3 Cities Bid).  This 
funding has enabled work to identify and understand current levels of speech, language and 
communication (SLC) need and predicted future levels of SLC need by ward.  This work, 
dovetailed with the recommendations from the LGA Peer Review in 2019, has supported the 
development of an SLC Strategy for Nottingham City. The journey of this work, over the last 
2 years, was initially overseen by the Best Start Strategic Group, made up of partners, 
including Small Steps Big Changes, Health, Education, Early Help, the Early Years 
Workforce and Parent and Carer Forums.  It was agreed in January 2021 that the 
governance and accountability for this work would sit with the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
There have been several local and national stakeholder events, particularly over the last 6 
months, sharing the journey and developments, locally these have focused on the digital 
information hub and the draft SLC Strategy. 
 

Page 48



 3 

It is well documented that, from an early age, children who cannot communicate as well as 
their friends struggle with attachment and attainment and by the time they are five years old, 
they are less engaged at school and one and a half times more likely to have mental health 
problems in later life.  Children with undiagnosed SLC needs are more likely to be excluded 
from school and struggle to form relationships with their peers. Supporting children to 
achieve good SLC before they turn 5 is fundamental to support their mental health. 
 
The draft ‘Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years, for Nottingham City’ 
and the document, ‘Identification and Intervention for Speech, Language and Communication 
in the Early Years’ (Marie Gascoigne, Bibiana Wigley and Claire Welburn, March 2020) are 
attached as additional documentation to this paper to provide further context and information. 

 
2. RISKS                                                                                                                                          

(Risk to the CYPP, risk involved in undertaking the activity and risk involved in not 
undertaking the activity) 
In ‘The Best Start for Life: A Vision for the 1,001 Critical Days’, the Rt Hon Andrea Leadsom 
MP states “Two is too late! We spend billions on challenges in society from lack of school 
readiness to bullying to poor mental health to addictions and criminality”. 
 
The notable risks are the ones that are involved in not undertaking this work.  The draft 
Strategy is a key recommendation of the LGA Peer Challenge, with the Peer Challengers set 
to return later this year and has been supported through dedicated work through the Early 
Outcomes Fund.  Without the collective action this draft Strategy proposes, we will continue 
to see disjointed work in silos, a fragmented workforce, children not being school ready, 
EYFSP scores below the national average, poor attachment and attainment, poor leisure 
choices, poor mental health and wellbeing and reduced life chances. 
 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
The work involved to date and the pending consultation of the Strategy and subsequent 
publication of the Strategy are costs being met through the Early Outcomes Fund.  The 
actions that will be cited in the Strategy’s supporting Action Plan 2021-2025 will embed this 
work across Council Plans and Strategies, as well as those of key partners and stakeholders. 
One of the proposed collective aims of the draft Strategy is that joint commissioners must 
ensure that commissioning supports the delivery of a whole systems model, including 
universal, targeted and specialist offers, delivered seamlessly from a child and family 
perspective.  For this collective aim to be achieved it is expected that some pooling of 
budgets may be required but this is not for the purpose of this paper at this stage. 

 
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no current legal implications expected for this work.  As stated above, for the 
collective aim of joint commissioning supporting the delivery of a whole systems model, this 
may impact on current arrangements for commissioning of services as they stand at present, 
but this is not for the purpose of this paper at this stage. 

 
5. CLIENT GROUP                                                                                                                       

(Groups of children, young people or carers who are being discussed in the report) 
The client group impacted by the work noted in this report and all children and young people 
in Nottingham City, across all wards, their families and the workforce supporting these 
groups. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 4 

6. IMPACT ON EQUALITIES ISSUES                                                                                                
(A brief description on how many minority groups are being engaged in the proposal 
and how their needs are being met: This section includes traveller and refugee 
families. The themes of the Shadow Boards – children and young people; parents and 
carers; equalities issues and the voluntary and community sector should be 
considered here. 
The consultation and engagement in this work to date, and set to continue, has involved 
Parents and Carers Forums, Small Steps Big Changes and a range of voluntary and 
community sector organisations, including Nottingham CVS. 

 
7. OUTCOMES AND PRIORITIES AFFECTED                                                                            

(Briefly state which of the CYPP priorities will be addressed) 
The proposed collective aims in the SLC Strategy, and the supporting action plan for 
implementation, will address each of the CYPP priorities noted above. 
 
Through accelerating work on the integrated 2 year checks, children and families can be 
supported through early and effective support through a robust system of universal 
identification, helping them receive the right support at the right time and help the children to 
be school ready and able to thrive to reach their full potential.  This will also empower 
families to be strong and deal with family issues, feeling there is local support there for 
them at from the earliest points in their children’s lives. 
 
‘The Best Start for Life: A Vision for the 1,001 Critical Days’ stresses the importance of 
promoting the health and well-being of babies, children and young people from 
pregnancy and throughout life.  Engagement of maternity services in such strategies and a 
critical focus on the child’s formative years, will be critical to ensuring that children develop 
SLC skills to the best of their potential to enable them to school ready and ultimately 
positively impacting on their attachment, attainment, leisure, health, wellbeing, 
employment and life chances as they get older.  

 
8. CONTACT DETAILS 

 

Kathryn Bouchlaghem, Early Years Manager, 0115 87 64531, 
Kathryn.bouchlaghem@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Page 50

mailto:Kathryn.bouchlaghem@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

 

An Executive Summary of the Speech, Language and Communication 

Strategy, 0-5 years, Nottingham City 

Speech, language and communication needs (SLCN) occur in every community with 
an estimate that two children in every mainstream classroom may have a significant 
developmental language disorder.  However, the evidence suggests that for children 
born into and growing up in disadvantage, as many as 50% of children entering 
school may have identifiable SLCN.  For a significant proportion of these children, 
long lasting impact can be avoided through early intervention and prevention 
approaches. 
  
We want Nottingham to be a City where all 0-5 year olds develop speech, language 
and communication (SLC) skills to the best of their individual potential.   
 
Our vision is supported by the core principles of Nottingham being a City where: 

 The right support is available at the right time 

 Our youngest children are prepared for school 

 Children attain well at school 

 People look after themselves, make healthy choices and have good mental 
health and wellbeing 

 People have good employment prospects and; 

 Ultimately, people have improved life chances.   
 
Our vision is based on an integrated offer, to be extended up to age 25 in the future, 
that delivers outcomes for children and young people through a strategic framework 
that includes: 

 Support for families and young people  

 Enhanced and adapted environments 

 Developing the Workforce 

 Early identification and; 

 Effective intervention 
 
Based on evidence data for Nottingham, we want to deliver outcomes based on 

interventions that we think will have the most significant impact to help us achieve 

our vision. By prioritising activities and interventions that contribute to the following 

impact measures, as part of the Action Plan to support the Strategy, we could see; 

 Increased take up of the targeted funded 2 year old offer 

 Fewer children identified with language delay at the 2 ½ Year Health Visitor 

Review.  Clarification of the Commissioned Health Checks required. 

 Fewer children identified with language delay at the 3 ½  Year Health Visitor 

Review 

 Improvement in the percentage of children achieving a good level of 

development Early Years Foundation Stage Profile attainment 

 Access to a Speech and Language Therapist in a timely manner  

 All children to receive an Integrated Check at 2 for children in settings  

 

 
 
 

Page 51



 

 

We will achieve this by: 

 Ensuring all professionals, across the 0-5 years workforce( across health, 
education and childcare) have identified baseline training and understand the 
assessment and screening process for all children 

 Ensuring all relevant organisations working with children and families promote 
the free early years entitlement offers for eligible 2, 3 and 4 year olds to 
encourage participation 

 Ensuring all 2 year olds receive an integrated (health and education) check 
using a universal screening tool, in partnership with parents, to support early 
identification of any speech, language and communications needs 

 Sharing information between health and education departments about a 
child/family so that they don’t miss out on any support needed 

 Ensuring a joint commissioning approach, and an offer understood by all 
partners, to support the delivery of a whole systems model including 
universal, targeted and specialist services, delivered seamlessly from a child 
and family perspective. 

 

The Local Government Association Peer Challenge, undertaken in 2019, and work 
through the government’s social mobility agenda and Early Outcomes Fund have 
given Nottingham an opportunity for speech, language and communication to be 
embedded as a key issue across all workforces, supported by a clear understanding 
of children’s milestones, and funding and commissioning arrangements, in order to 
improve outcomes and life chances for children and young people of Nottingham. 
This will be informed by experts who are ambitious for change, supported by parents 
as key educators and equal partners, with their needs are at the heart of service 
design and delivery.    
 
The governance for this strategy was agreed to reside with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board in January 2021 and the following national strategies are referenced 
throughout the full strategy: 

 SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (Department for Education and 
Department for Health and Social Care, April 2020) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25  

 Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Statutory Framework (Department for 
Education, September 2021) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-

framework--2  

 Health Child Programme: Pregnancy and the First 5 Years of Life 
(Department of Health and Social Care, October 2009) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-

pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life  

 The Best Start for Life: a vision for the 1001 critical days (Department of 
Health and Social Care, March 2021) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-

the-1001-critical-days  

 Bercow: 10 Years On (www.bercow10yearson.com March 2018)  
337644-ICAN-Bercow-Report-WEB.pdf (bercow10yearson.com) 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
http://www.bercow10yearson.com/
http://www.bercow10yearson.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/337644-ICAN-Bercow-Report-WEB.pdf#:~:text=Bercow%3A%20Ten%20Years%20On%20follows%20in%20the%20footsteps,England%3B%20more%20than%20contributed%20to%20the%20original%20Bercow


 

 

 Best Start in Speech, Language and Communication (Public Health England, 
December 2020) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/best-start-in-speech-language-

and-communication   

 

 

 
 

 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/best-start-in-speech-language-and-communication
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/best-start-in-speech-language-and-communication


This page is intentionally left blank



click to return to contents page click to return to contents page➜

A Speech, Language and 
Communication Strategy, 
0-5 years, Nottingham City 

Lead Department:  
People’s Directorate (Education)

P
age 55



2 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years

CONTENTS

Vision Statement  ...................................................................................3

Strategic National Context  ...................................................................4

Strategic Local Context  ........................................................................5

Needs Analysis Data – An Ambitious Change in the System  ..........6

Leading the System for an Integrated Approach for  
SLC Citywide  ........................................................................................11

Governance and Accountability  ........................................................13

Impact Measures and Action Plan 2021-2025  .................................14

Concluding Statement  ........................................................................15

Acknowledgements  ............................................................................15

P
age 56



 Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 3click to return to contents page➜

VISION STATEMENT

The vision for the City is for all of the City’s 0-5 year olds to develop 
speech, language and communication (SLC) skills to the best of 
their individual potential and preparing them to be ready for school, 
positively impacting on their attachment, attainment, leisure, mental 
health, wellbeing, later employment and ultimately improve life 
chances. The need for this vision has been accelerated by the recent 
COVID-19 global pandemic.

The vision also incorporates an intention to extend the age range, so 
that this strategy covers children and young people up to age 25 in 
the future, in order to reduce inequalities in health and contribute to 
positive wellbeing, increased life chances in terms of employment and 
reduction in youth offending.

In ‘The Best Start for Life: A Vision for the 1,001 Critical Days’, the Rt 
Hon Andrea Leadsom MP states “Two is too late! We spend billions 
on challenges in society from lack of school readiness to bullying to 
poor mental health to addictions and criminality” (https://www.gov.
uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-
1001-critical-days). 

And yet, local Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) data 
evidences that children and young people of Nottingham are not 
developing in communication and language and literacy to the best of 
their potential, with scores consistently below the national average.

It is recommended that the core model used for this strategy centres 
around the Balanced System® Framework1. The framework is 
structured around five strands with outcomes at each of the universal, 
targeted and specialist levels in each strand. 

The vision therefore is for the City to have an integrated offer that 
delivers outcomes for children and young people through a strategic 
framework that includes:

n	Families and Young People Support

n	Enhanced and Adapted Environments

n	Developing the Workforce

n	Early Identification

n	Effective Intervention

The Balanced System® Framework provides a clear focus for joint 
commissioning arrangements, with a focus on commissioning activities 
that have a clearly defined contribution to the shared joint outcomes 
for children and young people. The supporting joint commissioning 
strategy will articulate the need to commission provisions with a view 
to achieving equality of opportunity and outcome across the City, 
ensuring positives outcomes for our youngest children, their families 
and the wider communities. 

 Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 3click to return to contents page➜

1Gascoigne, M (2008 – 2021) https://www.thebalancedsystem.org

P
age 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.thebalancedsystem.org


4 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years  click to return to contents page➜

ContentsSTRATEGIC NATIONAL CONTEXT 

Speech, language and communication needs (SLCN) occur in every 
community with an estimate that two children in every mainstream 
classroom may have a significant developmental language disorder. 
However, the evidence suggests that for children born into and growing 
up in disadvantage, as many as 50% of children entering school may 
have identifiable SLCN. For a significant proportion of these children, 
long lasting impact can be avoided through early intervention and 
prevention approaches.

With parents recognised as a child’s first educator, it is imperative that 
their needs are at the heart of service design and delivery. With an 
integrated, system-wide approach and a central continuous workforce 
development strategy linked to SLC, this service design and delivery 
needs to reflect joint commissioning arrangements from pregnancy, 
with a seamless transition from Health Visitors to School Nurses and 
Early Years Settings to schools. 

Addressing early language delay is a priority in the government’s 
‘levelling up’ social mobility plan. It is a priority of Nottingham City to 
address these inequalities through our recently published Recovery 
and Improvement Plan 2021-2024 (https://www.mynottinghamnews.
co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Improvement-Plan-New-Version-
v-6.3.pdf)

In order to do this successfully, it is incumbent that this strategy links to 
the following national strategies:
n	SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (Department for Education and 

Department for Health and Social Care, April 2020)  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-
practice-0-to-25 

n	Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Statutory Framework 
(Department for Education, September 2021) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-
foundation-stage-framework--2 

n	Health Child Programme: Pregnancy and the First 5 Years of Life 
(Department of Health and Social Care, October 2009) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-
programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life 

n	The Best Start for Life: a vision for the 1001 critical days (Department 
of Health and Social Care, March 2021)  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-
life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days 

n	Bercow: 10 Years On (www.bercow10yearson.com March 2018) 
337644-ICAN-Bercow-Report-WEB.pdf (bercow10yearson.com)

n	Best Start in Speech, Language and Communication (Public Health 
England, December 2020)  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/best-start-in-
speech-language-and-communication 

n	Identification and Intervention for Speech, Language and 
Communication in the Early Years (Marie Gascoigne, Bibiana Wigley 
and Claire Welburn, March 2020) 
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/earlyyears/early-years/
national-context/early-outcomes-fund-and-a-speech-language-
and-communication-pathway/ 

P
age 58

https://www.mynottinghamnews.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Improvement-Plan-New-Version-v-6.3.pdf
https://www.mynottinghamnews.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Improvement-Plan-New-Version-v-6.3.pdf
https://www.mynottinghamnews.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Improvement-Plan-New-Version-v-6.3.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
http://www.bercow10yearson.com
http://www.bercow10yearson.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/337644-ICAN-Bercow-Report-WEB.pdf#:~:text=Bercow%3A%20Ten%20Years%20On%20follows%20in%20the%20footsteps,England%3B%20more%20than%20contributed%20to%20the%20original%20Bercow
http://www.bercow10yearson.com
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/best-start-in-speech-language-and-communication
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/best-start-in-speech-language-and-communication
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/earlyyears/early-years/national-context/early-outcomes-fund-and-a-speech-language-and-communication-pathway/ 
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/earlyyears/early-years/national-context/early-outcomes-fund-and-a-speech-language-and-communication-pathway/ 
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/earlyyears/early-years/national-context/early-outcomes-fund-and-a-speech-language-and-communication-pathway/ 


 Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 5click to return to contents page➜ click to return to contents page

ForewordSTRATEGIC LOCAL CONTEXT

In 2019, Nottingham City had a birth rate of 11.4 per 1000 population 
of all ages and 24,434 children under 5 living in the City. The highest 
concentration of children under 5 is within the Aspley Ward, which 
also has the highest predicted SLC need in the City with 57% of 0-4 
year olds being predicted to have needs. Across the City, 32.8% 
of children did not achieve expected levels in Communication and 
Language and Literacy in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile 
data in 2019 (Identification and Intervention for Speech, Language and 
Communication in the Early Years, Marie Gascoigne, Bibiana Wigley 
and Claire Welburn, March 2020). This analysis was conducted as part 
of the Early Outcomes Fund project across Nottingham, Leicester and 
Derby Cities.

Following a Peer Challenge 0-5 years in 2019, the Local Government 
Association made a key recommendation linked directly to one of 
our identified Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE). This was to develop a 
collaborative city-wide Early Years strategy with a focus on Speech, 
Language and Communication, as this key life skill cuts across health, 
education and social care as a key theme.

These two externally driven projects give Nottingham an opportunity 
for SLC to be embedded as a key issue across all workforces, 
supported by a clear understanding of children’s milestones, and 
funding and commissioning arrangements, in order to improve 
outcomes and life chances for children and young people of 
Nottingham. This will be informed by experts who are ambitious for 
change, supported by parents as key educators and equal partners. 

P
age 59



6 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years  click to return to contents page➜

ForewordNEEDS ANALYSIS DATA – AN AMBITIOUS CHANGE IN THE SYSTEM

In March 2019, Nottingham City Council Children’s Services 
undertook some groundbreaking work in partnership with Leicester 
City Council and Derby City Council, enlisting the support of 
Better Communication’s CIC to complete a needs analysis using 

tools developed as part of the Balanced System® improvement 
methodology. The ‘understand phase’ included analysis of population 
and demographic data as well as triangulating with the evidence 
base to provide a profile of the predicted distribution of needs across 
the City. The qualitative mapping as part of the process facilitated a 
systematic capture of the offer for children from all partners. Several 
stakeholder events took place across the city with key partners, 
including the voluntary sector and parents and carers, to obtain 
views and experiences linked to SLC, this is fully documented 
in the ‘Identification and Intervention for Speech, Language and 
Communication in the Early Years’ (Marie Gascoigne, Bibiana Wigley 
and Claire Welburn, March 2020) (https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.
uk/earlyyears/early-years/national-context/early-outcomes-fund-
and-a-speech-language-and-communication-pathway/)

The work of Better Communication CIC is built around the Balanced 
System® Framework. Developed over fifteen years of research and 
practice, the framework is used to underpin both commissioning 
specifications and provider service models. Local work utilised the 
service model to establish data on our 0-5 population, levels of 
poverty, deprivation and attainment were analysed by our project 
partners Better Communication CIC (https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.
uk/earlyyears/early-years/national-context/early-outcomes-fund-
and-a-speech-language-and-communication-pathway/).

The following map has been produced by Better Communication CIC 
and illustrates predicted level of SLCN in Nottingham, broken down by 
ward, for 0-4 year olds. 15 of the 20 wards are predicted to have 45% 
of more of 0-4 year olds with SLCN. This work was undertaken before 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

P
age 60



 click to return to contents page  Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 7 click to return to contents page➜

Operating Context

% predicted SCLN by ward for 0-4 year olds

P
age 61



8 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years click to return to contents page➜

Current Early Years Foundation Stage Data
As identified in the ‘Identification and Intervention for Speech, 
Language and Communication in the Early Years’ (Marie Gascoigne, 
Bibiana Wigley and Claire Welburn, March 2020), Nottingham has 
significant numbers of children that do not achieve expected levels at 
the end of the EYFS for Communication and Language and Literacy. 
This suggests there are core SLCN across the board as many 
provisions are judged as having good or outstanding practice. The 
report also stated that “when looking at the same cohort using the 
Balanced System® prediction of need calculation, higher percentages 
of SLCN are predicted than those not achieving the expected level in 
Communication and Language and Literacy. This observation could be 
attributed to a number of factors including the possibility that practice 
in the early years is ameliorating the predicted need, the possibility 
that the predicted need is estimating above the actual need, the 
possibility that some children being identified as having a ‘good level of 
development’ in fact do have unidentified SLCN or SLCN that have yet 
to emerge”. 

The table below reflects the EYFSP data over the last 5 years (due to 
the impact of COVID-19, there is no local or national dataset for 2020).

Good Level of Development
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Nottingham City 58% 
(+11)

63.5 
(+5.5)

66.2 
(+2.7)

67.6% 
(+1.4)

66.9%
(-0.7)

National 66% 69.3 
(+3.3)

70.7 
(+1.4)

71.5 
(+0.8)

71.8 
(+0.3)

Statistical  
Neighbours

61.7 64.9 66.6 68 68.7

Difference -8 -5.8 -4.5 -3.9 -4.9

P
age 62



 Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 9click to return to contents page click to return to contents page➜

Average of Communication and Language Early Learning Goals 
(Listening and Attention, Understanding and Speaking)

Ward 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
SSBC 
Wards

Aspley 76.6% 72.9% 75.9% 74.9% 79.0%

Bulwell 80.8% 80.2% 75.4% 82.4% 74.8%

Hyson Green 
& Arboretum

69.2% 71.1% 71.4% 77.0% 77.7%

St. Ann's 68.7% 76.0% 69.9% 76.6% 77.5%

Non-SSBC 
Wards

Basford 74.5% 83.5% 86.7% 86.4% 84.0%

Berridge 71.0% 76.1% 75.8% 79.4% 73.8%

Bestwood 77.6% 82.3% 84.2% 85.4% 83.3%

Bilborough 77.6% 76.2% 78.9% 82.1% 84.2%

Bulwell  
Forest

87.4% 87.4% 89.9% 89.1% 83.4%

Castle 77.8% 84.4% 86.7% 90.6% 80.6%

Clifton East 82.5% 83.5% 79.2% 83.0% 85.5%

Clifton West 81.3% 86.2% 82.8% 89.0% 88.4%

Dales 72.3% 74.8% 79.6% 76.4% 81.3%

Leen Valley 72.6% 83.0% 79.0% 77.8% 83.7%

Lenton & 
Wollaton East

74.2% 81.4% 68.8% 80.0% 81.6%

Mapperley 68.8% 76.2% 78.4% 70.6% 81.7%

Meadows 68.6% 76.0% 87.2% 84.1% 78.1%

Outside  
Nottingham

83.5% 89.1% 86.4% 91.0% 85.0%

Ward 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Radford 68.6% 71.9% 78.5% 82.3% 77.9%

Sherwood 81.8% 80.1% 84.1% 92.4% 81.0%

Wollaton 
West

89.2% 89.6% 86.6% 84.8% 93.3%

Average 76.4% 79.5% 79.6% 81.8% 81.2%

Peer Challenge 0-5 Years (October 2019)
The Challenge Report acknowledged “there are lots of really positive 
interventions across the Early Years system” in Nottingham which 
includes Health, Education, Childcare, Early Help and Social care, but 
“that there is no golden thread” that seamlessly support the child and 
family. Sharing of data between organisations was not clear and the 
support universally available for parents was also patchy and unclear. 

SLC Information Pathway
In order to begin to address the recommendations from the Peer 
Challenge, Nottingham, along with Derby and Leicester, has 
commissioned our project partner, Better Communication CIC, 
to develop an information hub (SLC Pathway - https://pathway.
thebalancedsystem.org/), populated with relevant local and national 
SLC resources. Launched in March 2021, this pathway tool navigates 
the provisions available for parents, carers and professionals to help 
all children and young people develop their speech, language and 
communication, as well as for those with identified speech, language 
and communication needs. This “one stop shop” supports parent and 

P
age 63

https://pathway.thebalancedsystem.org/
https://pathway.thebalancedsystem.org/


10 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years click to return to contents page➜

carers with their children’s learning journey and ultimately supports 
school readiness. As stated in the Vision Statement, it is hoped that 
this strategy will extend to cover children and young people up to 25 
years of age in the future and it would be anticipated that the pathway 
resources also extended in parallel. 

Partnerships and networks involved in the creation of the single digital 
front door, which is the pathway, included:
n	Parents and carers, via school and settings contacts and the 

voluntary sector, including Rainbow Parents and Carers Forum
n	Small Steps Big Changes 
n	Midwives
n	Health Visitors
n	School Nurses
n	School Admissions Team
n	Early Years Settings 
n	Speech and Language Therapists
n	Nottingham Council for Voluntary Service 
n	SEND Support Team
n	Education Psychology Service
n	Social Care
n	Early Help
n	Public Health Commissioners
n	Primary Schools
n	Best Start Working Group
n	Virtual School

P
age 64



 Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 11click to return to contents page click to return to contents page➜

As agreed at the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in January 2021, 
all partners must jointly own and 
deliver on the action plan that will 
accompany this strategy to ensure 
the desired outcomes for our children 
and young people are achieved.

This visual illustrates the work that 
has already been undertaken (in 
blue).

What is working well?
n	The commitment from Strategic 

Leads across the Early Years 
System and Political Leadership 
to collaborate on early language is 
strong and collectively seen as a 
priority.

n	There is a strong commitment to 
early intervention and partnership 
working.

LEADING THE SYSTEM FOR AN INTEGRATED APPROACH FOR SLC 
CITY WIDE

P
age 65



12 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years  click to return to contents page➜

What is not working so well?
n	Commissioning arrangements are not understood by third parties.
n	Sufficient data-sharing agreements are not in place.
n	Co-production of achieving statutory requirements as taking an 

integrated approach takes time, and resources. Resources are 
depleting, and COVID restrictions have had an impact on the way 
services are able to operate and deliver their services.

Proposed Collective Aims
n	Joint commissioners must ensure that commissioning supports 

the delivery of a whole systems model including universal, targeted 
and specialist offer delivered seamlessly from a child and family 
perspective.

n	Data sharing agreements across agencies in order to ensure that the 
outcome is achieved of no child or family missing out on support 
from any part of the system.

n	Integrated 2 year checks are crucial to providing a robust system of 
universal identification. Although not mandatory, given Nottingham’s 
level of identified and predicted need, this must be a necessary 
intervention across the early years system (health/childcare/
education).

n	A strategic approach to engagement of families in take up of the 
2, 3 and 4 year old offer. This supports economic growth, school 
readiness and identification of need.

n	Integration of the 0-5 workforce, with identified baseline training and 
assessment/understanding of the screening process. 

P
age 66



 Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 13 click to return to contents page➜ click to return to contents page

The Health and Wellbeing Board currently oversee this strategy. 
Relevant partners, including parents from across the Early Years 
System, will work together to monitor progress on improving support 
for SLC and unlocking barriers by having sight of all commissioned 

contracts that link to SLC. This can be achieved through the Children 
and Young People’s Partnership, who currently meet bi-monthly. A lead 
for this work needs to be identified.

GOVERNANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

P
age 67



14 n Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years  click to return to contents page➜

IMPACT MEASURES & ACTION PLAN 2021 - 2025

A full Action Plan that covers 2021-2025 needs to be developed by 
partners to accompany the delivery of this strategy. Timelines need to 
be agreed by all partners by Autumn 2021.

By the end of the Action Plan, the desired outcome will be to have 
a common embedded culture of understanding of impact not input 
measurement, a dashboard of impact measures, bringing together 
impact data across the whole system which informs ongoing joint 
commissioning of services leading to improved outcomes.

Impact measures to be considered, with realistic timelines to be agreed 
as part of the Action Plan, include:

n	Increased take up of the targeted funded 2-year-old offer.

n	Fewer children identified with language delay at the 2½ Year Health 
Visitor Review.

n	Fewer children identified with language delay at the 3½ Year Health 
Visitor Review.

n	Improvement in the percentage of children achieving a good level of 
development EYFSP attainment.

n	Access to a Speech and Language Therapist in a timely manner.

n	Integrated Check at 2 for children in settings to be reinstated (this 
is not mandatory). As part of this strategy, consideration needs to 
be given by the Local Authority and our Health partners whether to 
adopt the ELIM, an alternative identification measure for SLCN or 
continue with current arrangements, with decisions shared with the 
wider workforce across the early years community. 

P
age 68



 click to return to contents page  Nottingham City Council A Speech, Language and Communication Strategy, 0-5 years n 15 click to return to contents page➜

CONCLUDING STATEMENT

This strategy sets out the vision, the need, and priorities in Nottingham 
City with some identified success measures for effective SLC support 
from pre-birth to 5 years. 

Through clear governance and accountability of this strategy; integrated 
ways of working across workforces; effective use of budgets; shared 
data and early intervention of need we can improve SLC outcomes for 
0-5 year olds in Nottingham City. 

With thanks to colleagues in Leicester City Council (Sue Welford 
and Monica Hingorani), Derby City Council (Coral Golding and Jo 
Flannagan) and Better Communication CIC (Marie Gascoigne, Bibiana 
Wigley, Victoria Riley-Hill and Claire Welburn) who have worked 
collaboratively with Nottingham City Council as part of the Early 
Outcomes Fund Project. With further thanks to Jennifer Hardy of 
Nottingham City Council and Pete Chilvers and Hayley Carter from 
SDSA for their on-going support in driving the Early Outcomes Fund 
work forwards.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION
This strategy is currently at consultation stage. If you require any further information please contact:
Katherine Crossley
Project Officer, Early Years
Education Division, People Directorate
Nottingham City Council

katherine.crossley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

P
age 69

mailto:katherine.crossley%40nottinghamcity.gov.uk?subject=Nottingham%20City%20SLC%20Strategy


➜

P
age 70



March, 2020© Better Communication CIC, 2020

identification and intervention
for speech, language and 
communication in the early years:

Marie Gascoigne
Director

Bibiana Wigley
Early Years Associate

A summary for the Early Outcomes Fund project 
in Leicester, Derby & Nottingham cities

Claire Welburn
Data Analyst

P
age 71



1.
executive 
summary

P
age 72



During the course of the project which ran from April 2019 

to June 2020, the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic 

caused significant and long lasting disruption and change 

to every aspect of life in the UK and around the world.

  

The impact for children and young people in general  

and those vulnerable or presenting with speech, language 

and communication needs in particular will continue to 

emerge long after the conclusion of the project. 

The information presented in this report necessarily 

describes identification methodologies and interventions 

that are likely to need to be adapted in their delivery  

for some time to come and some which may never be  

entirely appropriate in the future. However, the outcomes 

focus throughout the evaluation provides a mechanism  

for reviewing the information drawn from past research  

in the future context. 

The outcomes of needing to be able to identify those 

communities where children may be at higher risk of 

SLCN, those with transient and those with persistent SLCN 

remain appropriate as are the outcomes around enabling 

all those in children’s lives, parents and carers, the wider 

workforce, as well as specialists, to provide intervention 

that is functional and in most appropriate, (and realistic) 

context to effect change. 

None of the reported research in this paper will have  

been carried out within the constraints of social distancing, 

home learning and school and setting closures. Whilst 

these are not permanent conditions, a time frame of six 

months or a year in the life of a pre-schooler is a significant 

window. Therefore, the strategic decisions made by the 

three cities in terms of identification and interventions  

need to keep the outcomes which stand the test of time 

and circumstance at the centre and build the resilience  

in the system to take account of immediate and longer 

term context.

This report was commissioned as part of the early outcome  
fund project across Leicester, Derby and Nottingham cities.

P
age 73



The best information available at the time of writing 

suggests that the Early Language Identification Measure 

(ELIM) due to be published late 2020 will provide a useful 

addition to the ASQ3 currently used by Health Visitors  

as part of the national surveillance programme for  

two-year olds. 

However, Public Health England have stated that 

the ELIM will not be mandatory and therefore Local 

Authority and Health Partners in each area will be free 

to choose whether to adopt the ELIM, introduce another 

identification measure for SLCN or continue with their 

current arrangements. Prof Law has indicated that 

interventions to follow on from the ELIM are also being 

developed but it is not clear whether these would be 

universal advice and strategies for families or more 

targeted interventions delivered by the early years 

workforce in some way. 

There has also been mention of the possibility of the ELIM 

being used as the basis of the integrated early years review 

which would make it more central to the processes around 

identification in Local Authorities but as yet there is no  

clear guidance on this matter.

The Annex to this paper which presents links to a wide  

set of identification tools that have been evaluated in the 

UK and beyond, provides a comprehensive set from which 

to draw. Table 1, above, provides a ‘short-list’ summary 

of those most commonly used that all have merits. 

Additionally, there will be the new ELIM at some  

point during 2020.

The key conclusion is that in the absence of a mandatory 

set of processes beyond the ASQ3, each Local Authority 

will need to decide with partners what is going to best 

meet the needs of the population. 

This EOF project has used the Balanced System®  

as a common strategic framework and therefore  

meeting Identification Strand Outcomes at universal, 

targeted and specialist levels may help in framing the 

identification strategy for the three cities as opposed  

to seeking a particular screening, identification or 

assessment input.

Identification recommendations within  
Leicester, Derby and Nottingham Cities

P
age 74



The following may prove useful in this process:

1.   Ensuring basic knowledge for all practitioners around 

early speech, language and communication 

expected levels and milestones

2.  Ensuring basic knowledge among all practitioners  

around the key risk factors for a child in the early years  

in respect of SLCN

3.  Taking an outcomes focused approach to 

identification – having local outcomes statements 

indicating the shared responsibility for identification 

and requiring early years settings and practitioners to 

deploy identification checklists, processes and tools  

to observe, measure and track children’s SLC

4.  Taking an outcomes focused approach to the ‘so  

what?’ of identification – that is – that there must 

be a range of universal and targeted interventions 

available for all those who are identified as having 

any level of need – identification with no follow up  

is the worst possible scenario

5.  LAs may choose to recommend one preferred tool.  

In this case the important factor will be the sensitivity 

and specificity to the population served and the link 

to the appropriate follow up intervention for those 

identified as needing additional support

P
age 75



Intervention recommendations within  
Leicester, Derby and Nottingham Cities 
 
As with the conclusion to the identification section of this paper, using the  
Balanced System® Outcome descriptors for the Intervention Strand may prove  
a useful way of framing the choice of a suite of intervention methodologies.

in1. universal     Homes, settings and schools are supported to develop the language and communication skills  

of all children and young people through language enrichment and supportive activities.

in2. targeted     Children and young people benefiting from targeted interventions will have access to evidence based  

targeted interventions to develop core speech, language and communication skills delivered in the most appropriate 

functional context. These might include 1:1 and / or small group interventions that are typically designed by specialist 

practitioners and delivered by those with appropriate training.

in3. specialist     Children and young people needing specialist intervention for their SLCN receive appropriate and timely provision in 

the most functionally appropriate context for their needs. Progress measures will include activity, participation and well-

being goals in addition to goals relating to their core SLC impairment.

P
age 76



In choosing a suite of interventions to recommend as part of this EOF 
project the following considerations should be taken into account:

1.  To achieve the universal intervention outcomes a programme of professional 

development, training and coaching, recommended resources for supporting 

speech, language and communication and confidence building amongst  

parents and early years practitioners will be key activities.  

 

  These will almost certainly be achieved through developing and enhancing 

existing workforce activity such as health visitor support and early years practitioner 

confidence in supporting families. The Pathway for SLCN being developed as part 

of this EOF project should provide the necessary links to information and accessible 

resources for those conversations.

2.  To achieve the targeted outcome, the three cities should consider not only the 

choice of targeted interventions but the process by which they will be established 

and embedded in the early years community of practice. 

3.  The support of specialist practitioners is key and training of the wider workforce  

alone cannot be assumed to result in impact on children through embedded 

targeted interventions consistently offered.

4.  Practitioners’ confidence in the chosen interventions is also paramount.  

If a particular programme is chosen at a Local Authority level without the  

confidence of the early years sector the process issues of delivery and  

impact will be problematic.

5.  As with the choices for identification, each LA will need to make a considered 

decision based on the context including the availability of a specialist offer to  

support practitioners.

P
age 77



2. 
introduction

P
age 78



The Early Outcomes Fund project across Leicester, Derby and 

Nottingham Cities includes a number of strands of work all 

contributing to the overall outcome of improving outcomes 

for children in the Early Years across the three cities.

As part of this work, Better Communication CIC were asked 

to provide an overview of the widely used identification and 

intervention tools and to facilitate an options appraisal within 

the project as a whole and within each City with its unique 

context that would allow City Leads to make decisions 

regarding endorsement or adoption of any particular 

approaches or tools which in turn would influence plans  

for training and workforce development in the Cities.

A child’s ability to communicate in the Early Years is 

widely recognised as being a predictor of life chances. 

Children who do not develop their speech, language and 

communication skills as expected are less likely to meet  

their full potential. 

Law et al (2017) in a paper commissioned by the Early 

Intervention Foundation1 highlight that a wide body of 

evidence shows that children’s early language capabilities 

are highly associated with later academic, social, emotional 

and behavioural outcomes stating that language in early 

childhood impacts on school readiness at 5 and also in 

longer term academic attainment; employment; mental 

well-being and reduced likelihood of engaging in  

criminal behaviour. 

Gascoigne & Gross (2018) bring together evidence of the 

impact of poor language and communication skills not 

only on life chances but also under-identification, the 

interaction between disadvantage and poor language and 

communication, readiness for school, and beyond school 

into employment using datasets from 2016 – 2017 to illustrate 

the potential impact of these issues2.

This paper has been asked to focus on providing a summary 

that will allow all three Local Authorities to take a view as to 

their approach to identification and intervention for children 

in the early years. Any approach has to include existing 

national initiatives such as the Health Visitor mandatory 

check and the Integrated Early Years Review. 

1 https://www.eif.org.uk/report/language-as-a-child-wellbeing-indicator
2 http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/resources/resources/resources-for-practitioners/talking-about-a-generation/

P
age 79

https://www.eif.org.uk/report/language-as-a-child-wellbeing-indicator
http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/resources/resources/resources-for-practitioners/talking-about-a-generation/


•  Evidence from other projects in one of the partner cities of under-identification 

by the HV screen suggesting better identification processes are needed

•  A lack of confidence amongst early years practitioners and families in knowing 

when to be concerned about a child’s SLC

•  A lack of strategy in the interventions offered by early years practitioners to 

support speech, language and communication development 

•  Very different and disparate commissioning of support for children with speech, 

language and communication needs across all three cities

•  A desire to commission a consistent training and workforce development offer in 

order to build the workforce skills and competence as well as enhance the early 

learning environments in which they spend time

Key drivers for considering these elements include:

P
age 80



3. 
identification

P
age 81



This report will outline the methodological issues around identification from national and 
academic perspectives as well as locally sourced data. A directory of identification tools has 
been collated which provides a comprehensive overview of identification processes and tools 
and a summary table of those most commonly used. The debate around the cost – benefit 
analysis of screening as surveillance vs identification is also presented.

3 Law, J., et al. in Bercow, J. (2008) The Bercow Review. HMSO London https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/8405/7/7771-dcsf-bercow_Redacted.pdf
4  Norbury, C. F., Gooch, D., Wray, C., Baird, G., Charman, T., Simonoff, E.,Vamvakas, G. and Pickles, A. (2016), The impact of nonverbal ability on prevalence and clinical presentation of language disorder: evidence from a 

population study. J Child Psychol Psychiatr, 57: 1247–1257. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12573
5 Bishop et al (2016) CATALISE: A Multinational and Multidisciplinary Delphi Consensus Study. Identifying Language Impairments in Children http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal. pone.0158753

Evidence base surrounding the prevalence of speech, 

language and communication needs and the risk factors 

associated with late or delayed speech and language 

development continues to develop.  There are broadly two 

approaches to calculating the predicted need in a given 

population: a diagnostic category approach and  

a population based approach.

The Bercow Review reporting in 2008, commissioned a 

team of researchers to review the literature across both 

approaches and the prevalence figures which emerged 

suggested that within any given area, 1% of children 

entering school would have severe and pervasive speech, 

language and communication needs usually as part 

of a complex profile of need, 7% would have primary 

speech and language needs of a significant nature 

including those with, in the terminology of the day, specific 

language impairment, whilst up to 50% of children at 

school entry in the most disadvantaged areas of the  

UK could be expected to have measurable, identifiable 

SLCN though not all requiring speech and language 

therapy as opposed to improved opportunities for 

language development3.

The SCALES study4 in 2016 reported on the first cohort 

of a longitudinal study in Surrey which identified that 

7.58% of the school entry population presented with a 

developmental language disorder of unknown origin  

(ie not linked to any other developmental or disability 

issues).  Alongside the SCALES study an international 

collaborative co-ordinated by Prof Dorothy Bishop 

redefined the terminology around those children with a 

primary speech, language and communication need  

and the term ‘developmental language disorder’  

(DLD) came into use.5 Despite these redefinitions over  

time two key prevalence rates remain consistent.

Prevalence

P
age 82

https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/8405/7/7771-dcsf-bercow_Redacted.pdf
http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal. pone.0158753


Firstly that we can expect a percentage in the region of 7% 

- 10% of children at school entry to have primary speech, 

language and communication needs in any population 

regardless of demographic and secondly that in areas of 

significant economic disadvantage the percentage of  

children entering school with significant needs over and  

above the 7-10% that might be expected in any population  

can be as high as 50% and in local area reports from  

teachers, potentially higher.

In the Early Outcomes Fund project within Leicester, Derby  

and Nottingham Cities, the Balanced System® prediction 

of SLCN tool has been used which takes account of the 

population size, the demographic and the evidence base  

to produce indicative percentages and figures at ward  

level tailored to the demographic.

This suggests the following potential SLCN in each of the three 

Cities. In each case the table shows the predicted need as a 

% in the 0-4 and 5-9 populations – so the likelihood of SLCN in 

the early years and up to 9 whilst the map shows the predicted 

number (so an interaction between the population and the  

% across the whole 0-18 age range).

P
age 83



Identification:P
age 84



Figure 1: Map of Leicester by ward  
showing predicted SLCN numbers

P
age 85



Figure 2: Predicted SLCN for Leicester by ward  
showing predicted % for 0-4 and 5-9 years

0-4 years 5-9 years

Abbey 54% 53%

Aylestone 39% 40%

Beaumont Leys 47% 48%

Belgrave 47% 47%

Braunstone Park & 
Rowley Fields

52% 55%

Castle 47% 45%

Evington 45% 43%

Eyres Monsell 59% 60%

Fosse 55% 54%

Humberstone & 
Hamilton 

39% 42%

Knighton 35% 34%

North Evington 53% 52%

Rushey Mead 38% 41%

Saffron 55% 55%

Spinney Hills 39% 37%

Stoneygate 38% 39%

Thurncourt 49% 49%

Troon 43% 41%

Westcotes 42% 45%

Western 51% 52%

Wycliffe 52% 52%

P
age 86



Identification:P
age 87



Figure 3: Map of Derby by ward  
showing predicted SLCN numbers

P
age 88



Figure 4: Predicted SLCN for Derby by ward  
showing predicted % for 0-4 and 5-9 years

0-4 years 5-9 years

Abbey 40% 39%

Allestree 8% 8%

Alvaston 52% 55%

Arboretum 60% 64%

Blagreaves 9% 8%

Boulton 56% 57%

Chaddesden 39% 37%

Chellaston 40% 38%

Darley 43% 45%

Derwent 53% 50%

Littleover 9% 9%

Mackworth 43% 44%

Mickleover 9% 9%

Normanton 61% 61%

Oakwood 40% 38%

Sinfin 60% 60%

Spondon 48% 48%

P
age 89



6  The wards used in this analysis are the electoral wards that were in operation pre-April 2019. In April 2019 there was a significant 
change in the organisation of Nottingham electoral wards, which lead to almost all wards being changed although the total 
number of wards remained constant at 20.

Identification:P
age 90



Figure 5: Map of Nottingham by ward showing  
predicted SLCN numbers

P
age 91



Figure 6: Predicted SLCN for Nottingham by ward  
showing predicted % for 0-4 and 5-9 years

0-4 years 5-9 years

Arboretum  55% 53%

Aspley  57% 57%

Basford  54% 52%

Berridge  54% 51%

Bestwood  53% 54%

Bilborough  57% 55%

Bridge  46% 48%

Bulwell  56% 57%

Bulwell Forest  49% 49%

Clifton North  45% 49%

Clifton South  57% 55%

Dales  51% 54%

Dunkirk and Lenton  34% 44%

Leen Valley  36% 36%

Mapperley  42% 43%

Radford and Park  46% 43%

Sherwood  47% 47%

St Ann's  53% 54%

Wollaton East and 
Lenton Abbey  

46% 34%

Wollaton West  8% 8%

P
age 92



Identification and under-identification
Despite the high levels of prevalence predicted nationally 

and in the three cities related to this project, it is widely 

documented that SLCN is under-identified. The Bercow 

10 Years On7 report suggests that more than half of young 

children do not have their SLC needs identified and that  

this may be in part due to insufficient knowledge and  

skills in the workforce. 

The report highlights the importance of all professionals 

working with children (GPs, health visitors, early years 

and school-based staff) knowing and recognising the 

early signs of SLCN and includes information from a 

Communication Trust workforce survey8 showing that  

fewer than half of respondents felt the expertise of the 

wider workforce in identifying and supporting children  

and young people’s speech, language and 

communication was ‘good’ or ‘excellent’. 

The Bercow 10 Years On report highlights several  

factors impacting on under identification of the most 

vulnerable children. 

The report recommends identification of SLCN as part  

of mandatory systems as well as transformation of SLT 

services that have non-attendance policies that result 

in the most vulnerable children not accessing services 

that can identify need and consequently not receiving 

appropriate advice and support. Finally, the report also 

suggests that tracking and sharing data from early years  

to school to other services is a crucial mechanism that 

needs to be developed.

7 Bercow: Ten Years On. An independent review of provision for children and young people with speech, language and communication needs in England. ICAN & RCSLT 2018
8 Professional development in speech, language and communication: Findings from a national survey, The Communication Trust 2017

P
age 93



All of these factors are addressed as part of the Early Outcomes Fund 

Project for Leicester, Derby and Nottingham Cities. In looking at other 

local datasets, the impact of potential under-identification of SLCN can 

be implied from the local EYFSP data for the cities. 

This shows significant numbers of children do not achieve expected levels 

at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage for Communication and 

Language and Literacy, despite many provisions being judged good or 

outstanding in their practice. This suggests core SLCN irrespective of the 

provision available.

Furthermore, when looking at the same cohort using the Balanced 

System® prediction of need calculation, higher percentages of 

SLCN are predicted than those not achieving the expected level in 

Communication and Language and Literacy. This observation could be 

attributed to a number of factors including the possibility that practice in 

the early years is ameliorating the predicted need, the possibility that the 

predicted need is estimating above the actual need, the possibility that 

some children being identified as having a ‘good level of development’ 

in fact do have unidentified SLCN or SLCN that have yet to emerge.

P
age 94



Figure 7: Number of children who did not achieve expected  
levels in Communication and Language and Literacy 20199

Total Children Girls Boys

Derby 28.6%   932 21.0%   341 36.1%  590

Nottingham 32.8%    1226 25.4%   470 40.1%  757

Leicester 31.8%  1496 26.2%   591 37.0%  906

Figure 8: Predicted need in the same EYFSP cohort 10

Total Children

Derby 43%   1391

Nottingham 49%    1830

Leicester 47% 2219

9 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2018-to-2019
10 Using the Balanced System® prediction of need calculations

P
age 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2018-to-2019


Identification vs screening vs assessment

These three terms are widely used and yet mean quite different processes with 
different implications for how services are configured to meet the needs of 
children and young people within a given population. Some simple definitions 
are drawn from various sources:

• Identification of needs is a process of identifying needs in a targeted population that might include a 

number of strategies including the use of specific tools but guided by a set of principles. It is not usually 

conducted with a whole cohort without a specific factor indicating that this is appropriate. 

• “Screening is the process of identifying healthy people who may be at increased risk of disease or 

condition. Screening refers to the use of simple tests across an apparently healthy population in order 

to identify individuals who have risk factors or early stages of disease, but do not yet have symptoms11” 

(WHO). So screening in the purest form is a universal offer that everyone accesses with no specific factors 

guiding the process.

• Assessment is defined as “the act of judging or deciding the amount, value, quality, or importance 

of something, or the judgment or decision that is made”12. So in the context of speech, language and 

communication needs, assessment would be the process by which quite detailed judgements are made 

about the level of SLCN and the appropriate response.

Identification therefore might include screening or assessment or indeed be made up of a number of 

other processes including use of professional practitioner judgement and parental concern measures.

11 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-population-screening-explained
12 https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/assessment

P
age 96

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-population-screening-explained
https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/assessment


Screening – the debate
Screening programmes that require a whole population 

group or cohort to be subject of a simple process to 

determine their potential risk of a problem are used in  

a range of areas of public service.

For example, in the UK, the newborn hearing screening 

programme tests every newborn baby for congenital 

hearing loss in order to immediately offer the appropriate 

support and ensure that any children with identified 

deafness at birth are provided with a range of potential 

options including cochlear implants which require surgery 

and long term care from a multi-disciplinary team.

There are a wide range of tools that exist for assessing 

children’s language development. These include both 

comprehensive psychological assessments and  

short-form screening instruments. Psychological 

assessments incorporate aspects of child language  

in their battery of measures whereas the short-form 

screening instruments are intended to identify initial 

language problems.

Many tools are ‘norm referenced’, meaning that they 

have been standardised against a population average 

as a point of comparison for an individual child’s score. 

However, they have often not been standardised on British 

populations, meaning that their accuracy within the UK 

may be limited. Furthermore, most do not take account  

of children growing up in linguistically diverse homes.

Screening exists to identify children whose language 

skills are below what would be expected for their 

age - they are not appropriate for diagnosing specific 

language disorders.  Screening can take place through 

direct processes that make use of a specific instrument 

or indirect processes that include parental reports or 

observations made by a practitioner.  Indirect processes 

are advantageous in that they provide a practical means 

of identifying children with potential problems and referring 

them on to additional services. However, they are reliant 

on the judgment of the parent or practitioner, which is 

likely to be subjective and prone to inaccuracies.

P
age 97



Direct screening measures do have the potential to provide population-

level information on the prevalence of language difficulties in a way that is 

consistent and trackable over time. However, there can be both practical 

and psychometric drawbacks that need to be considered. 

Practical issues include factors affecting administration, such as who will 

administer the test and analyse the data. Psychometric issues include 

those pertaining to their precision and accuracy. Accuracy is most often 

understood in terms of a measure’s sensitivity and specificity. Sensitivity 

describes the extent to which a screening tool can reliably identify 

children with a diagnosable language problem. Specificity determines 

the extent to which a tool reliably identifies children without a language 

problem. Greater sensitivity increases the likelihood that children with 

language problems will be identified. 

However, it also increases the rate of ‘false positives’, meaning that some 

children without language problems will be identified as requiring support.  

This has practical implications for how services respond to language 

problems identified through screening. 

The majority of screening instruments lack the sensitivity and specificity 

to accurately identify child language problems at the individual level. 

Prof Courtenay Norbury has summarised the ‘not to screen’ view in a 

blog which pulls together these arguments13. Her particular interest is 

the identification of Development Language Disorder (DLD), which is 

a significant part of broader Speech, Language and Communication 

Needs (SLCN). The recent multinational and multidisciplinary Delphi 

consensus study ‘Criteria and Terminology Applied to Language 

Impairments: Synthesising the Evidence’ (Catalise)14 recommended 

that the term ‘Developmental Language Disorder’ be used to describe 

children with the most severe language difficulties. There is ongoing 

debate as to the best methods of assessment for DLD but the consensus  

is that children with DLD are not reliably identified in the Early Years.

There have been many calls for a comprehensive screening programme 

for speech, language and communication needs at critical points in 

the early years, most recently in the Bercow Ten Years On report outlined 

above. However, academics are cautious about supporting screening as 

opposed to taking an identification approach with some citing evidence 

from the Early Language in Victoria Study (ELVS), a longitudinal study of 

children born in Victoria, Australia.15

13 http://www.lilac-lab.org/news-post/to-screen-or-not-to-screen-important-factors-to-consider/
14 Bishop D V, Snowling M J, Thompson P A, Greenhalgh T, CATALISE consortium CATALISE: A Multinational and Multidisciplinary Delphi Consensus Study. Identifying Language Impairments in Children. 
https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs
15 https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs

P
age 98

http://www.lilac-lab.org/news-post/to-screen-or-not-to-screen-important-factors-to-consider/
https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs
https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs
https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs


The ELVS assessed children at two years of age and then 

again at four years of age. At two years of age 19% of children 

were identified as demonstrating delayed speech, language 

and communication and classified as ‘late talkers’.  

81% were identified as ‘typical talkers’. 

At 4 years of age, 11% of children were identified as having 

impaired speech, language and communication and 89% 

to be demonstrating typical SLC skills. However, crucially 

– the 11% were not all made up of children who had been 

identified at 2 years old. Figure 9 illustrates the detail and 

shows that of the 19% identified as ‘late talkers’ aged 2,  

only 5% continued to be in the impaired group at age 4, 

whereas of the 81% with typical language skills age 2, 6% 

were found to have previously unidentified SLCN.

The implications of this study for screening of speech, 

language and communication are significant. If the 19% of 

children identified age two were offered a specific pathway 

as a consequence it would emerge that only 5% of them 

actually needed it whilst 6% would remain unidentified and 

emerge with later developing difficulties at four years old.

Similar findings have been reported by other  

researchers around the world16.

Figure 9: Figures from ELVS  
study (Reilley, S., McKean, C.,  
and Levickis, P., 2014)16 reported  
in Law et al 2017

16 (Reilley, S., McKean, C., and Levickis, P., 2014) - https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs
17 https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf

P
age 99

https://www.mcri.edu.au/research/projects/early-language-victoria-study-elvs
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf


Identification – the way forward?
The implications of the screening debate are 

intrinsically linked to taking an identification 

approach and focusing on the offer that is 

available at a universal and targeted level in 

the communities being explored.

In reviewing identification processes, the 

Early Intervention Foundation18 highlights that 

measures of language increase in predictive 

validity as children develop over time and 

measures of language before 2 years of age 

are not predictive. It proposes that:

•  Children are assessed from 2.5 years and 

offered support where needed

• Assessment takes place on an annual basis.

Law et al advocate for a targeted approach 

in terms of identifying children in need of 

additional support. Targeting children using 

universal screening assessments only based 

on single factors such as child language 

ability, use of gesture, or social risks can be 

problematic and mean that children  

continue to be missed or under-identified.  

As a solution, Law et al propose that there 

should be an element of ‘over-servicing’ at 

a population level for children at risk rather 

than ‘diagnosis’ of individual children and 

propose using the following factors when 

considering utilising a continuum of response 

to a continuum of need: 

•  Integrate child, family and parenting  

factors to estimate a child’s level of risk 

•  Identify children with multiple vulnerabilities 

such as both speech and language 

difficulties or social and emotional difficulties 

•  Monitor the child’s rate of progress  

over time.

When considering risk factors, the Early 

Intervention Foundation19 states that they 

are: genetics (7%); birth order; maternal age; 

premature birth; toxic substances in the womb; 

social disadvantage (low income, high 

poverty); EAL pre 3 years. 

18 EIF Language as a child wellbeing indicator September 2017 James Law, Jenna Charlton – Newcastle University; Kirsten Asmussen – Early Intervention Foundation
19 https://youtu.be/ujJqUNOwWT4 EIF webinar understanding the evidence on early language 20 https://www.eif.org.uk/report/key-competencies-in-early-cognitive-development-things-people-numbers-and-words
21 Gascoigne, M. & Gross, J., (20018) Talking about a generation The Communication Trust: London - http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/resources/resources/resources-for-practitioners/talking-about-a-generation/

The EIF20 also recognises the following 

protective factors: high quality infant-directed 

speech; high quality joint attention; degree 

educated parents; book sharing; birth order 

(first born). 

It states that the combination of parent  

mental health AND poverty highly increases 

impact on SLCN. 

In order to identify all children with language 

delay, Law et al state: “there is a need to 

develop and evaluate models of services 

wherein the continuum of risk is acknowledged 

and there is an accompanying continuum of 

response in terms of the amount and type of 

intervention offered.” 

The Balanced System® approach to tailoring 

the amount of targeted support in a given 

area to the predicted needs of the population 

is an example of a response to a continuum  

of needs as described above.21

P
age 100

https://youtu.be/ujJqUNOwWT4
https://www.eif.org.uk/report/key-competencies-in-early-cognitive-development-things-people-numbers-and-words
http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/resources/resources/resources-for-practitioners/talking-about-a-generation/


Figure 10: Balancing the offer to meet need

Public Health England are currently supporting the roll out of health visitor training 

specifically in support of identification and have commissioned the development of 

a new tool to be used in conjunction with the Ages and Stages Questionnaire that is 

currently used by Health Visitors as part of the two year old developmental check.

P
age 101



The Early Language Identification Measure (ELIM) is based 

on a rich body of research that includes the ELVS study but 

also research into risk factors which, when identified early, 

have greater or lesser predictive power for later speech,  

language and communication skills.22 

The ELIM, therefore is not a screening tool as such, it is 

offered as part of an identification strategy led by Health 

Visitors. It will not be available within the active life of 

this Early Outcomes Fund Project but this summary from 

Professor James Law, who is leading the research team 

provides a summary:

“ ”The Early Language Identification Measure" or the 

ELIM is a measure being developed by a team under 

the leadership of Professor James Law as a part of the 

work currently commissioned by the Department of 

Education (DfE) and Public Health England (PHE). The 

measure was developed during 2019 and through until 

2020. The final report will be published in July 2020. 

The ELIM is intended for use by Health Visitors at the 

27 month review when all children in the UK visit their 

health visitor for a developmental check. All children 

currently receive the Ages and Stages Questionnaire 

and the idea is the ELIM will help Health Visitors refine 

their judgment about who most needs further help by 

having the ELIM conversation with parents. We are also 

developing interventions to go alongside the ELIM.  

At the moment the ELIM comprises five sections 

including observations, parental report and risk factors 

and we will be comparing it to a standard test of oral 

language skills the Preschool Language Scale (PLS5) 

and refining the ELIM so that it picks up the children with 

the lowest language scores. This will mean shortening 

the ELIM measure so that only the most useful items will 

be included in the final measure. The revised ELIM will 

be published by PHE alongside their Speech Language 

and Communication Needs (SLCN) pathway and 

underpinned by the cascaded SLCN training which has 

been rolled out across England to thousands of health 

visitors during 2019/2020 and these in turn will feed into 

the English Government's Social Mobility Strategy.23”
The ELIM is intended to supplement the Ages and Stages 

Questionnaire (ASQ) currently used by Health Visitors in 

recognition of the emerging evidence that the ASQ is not 

a sufficiently sensitive measure. There has been comment 

within the sector that DfE are interested in the ELIM being 

used by Early Years Practitioners as part of the integrated 

review but the research team led by Prof Law have not 

been involved in these discussions at this point.

22 McKean C, Reilly S, Bavin E, Bretherton L, Cini E, Conway L, Cook F, Eadie P,Prior M, Wake M, Mensah F. Language outcomes at 7 years: early predictors and co-occurring difficulties. Pediatrics 2017, 139(3), e20161684.
23 Prof. James Law, personal communication with the author 21st March, 2020

P
age 102



Current identification and screening methods  
in Leicester, Derby and Nottingham

The needs analysis conducted as part of the Early  

Outcomes Fund Project included qualitative mapping of  

the offer to children and families and the workforce including 

childminders, settings and schools in each of the cities. 

The Balanced System® Five Strands include the Identification 

strand and therefore qualitative information was captured 

around the identification strategies and tools in use across 

the three cities. In addition, there is additional information 

available from Derby City as a result of work across the Derby 

Opportunity Area over the past two to three years which, 

given the similarities between the three cities in this project  

is relevant to consider.

Table 1 below, summarises the most commonly reported 

identification methodologies across the three cities and the 

areas they address.

In Derby City, a specific report was commissioned as 

part of the Opportunity Area work in 2018 to consider the 

effectiveness of identification in the City. This work was carried 

out by Clarity (TEC) Ltd and was submitted as part of the 

Derby Opportunity Area pilot project.24

Clarity found that in Derby in 2018 96.6% children at two years 

of age received the ASQ3 from a HV as part of their universal 

developmental check. Of those children, 92% of children 

across Derby were reported to be at the expected level for 

Communication resulting in identification of 8% who were not 

at the expected level. Nationwide, the average identification 

rate at this 2-year check in this year was approximately  

10-12%. The study then asked health visitors in one ward  

with significant levels of social disadvantage to also use  

an additional measure, the UK Bilingual Toddlers  

Assessment Tool (UKBTAT).25 

This tool showed that the children that were positively 

identified in the target ward by the ASQ3 had language  

levels at or below the 10th centile using the UKBTAT. These 

would be considered severe speech, language and 

communication needs and the ASQ3 as a surveillance tool 

would be expected to identify a wider cohort of children  

with a broader range of SLCN. These locally specific data to 

this Early Outcomes Fund project are therefore particularly 

relevant. The UKBTAT has not been included in the table  

below as it was used only for this specific project but it  

does have the benefit of addressing linguistic diversity.

24  The Clarity Report, 2018, Pilot project examining methods to identify children aged 0-5 years with speech, language and communication  
needs and investigating evidence-based interventions which can support speech, language and communication development, unpublished report for Derby City Council

25 http://www.psy.plymouth.ac.uk/UKBTAT/

P
age 103

http://www.psy.plymouth.ac.uk/UKBTAT/


Inconsistent approaches to gathering information about first language development and lack of workforce knowledge 

in understanding indicators of language learning difficulties in bilingual children leads to children learning EAL with SLCN 

being missed or identified later. These children do not achieve as well as children whose first language is English  

in achieving the expected level of development.

Figure 11: Number of children who did not achieve expected 
levels across all Early Learning Goals 2019 26 

Children whose first language is English Children whose first language is other than English

Girls Boys Total Girls Boys Total

Derby 20% 36% 28% 28% 42% 35%

Nottingham 25% 42% 33% 30% 42% 36%

Leicester 25% 37% 31% 28% 42% 35%

Children whose first language is not English are  

over-represented in samples of children with SLCN 

compared with monolingual English speakers.27 

However, the disproportionate number of  

children with EAL who have SLCN in the community 

is not reflected in SLT service statistics.28 Certain 

population characteristics are associated with 

SLCN but they are not consistently used as flags to 

plan and provide additional services or monitor 

children’s progress. 

Of particular note for the three cities in this project 

is the poor outcomes for boys whose first language 

is other than English and the commonality of 

these data across the cities which is in contrast 

to the outcomes for girls. WellComm has gained 

popularity with early years practitioners locally and 

nationally. Crucially WellComm provides strategies 

for intervention that are consequent on the initial 

tool’s findings.

The intervention strategies deal with the key 

challenge to a screening approach of being  

able provide targeted interventions to any of  

those identified even if they might be in the  

group for whom matters would have resolved. 

26 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2018-to-2019 
27  Dockrell, J., Lindsay, G., Roulstone, S., and Law, J. (2014). Supporting children with speech, language and communication needs:  

an overview of the results of the Better Communication Research Programme. International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders 49, 543–557 
28  Hambly, H., Wren, Y., McLeod, S., and Roulstone, S. (2013). The influence of bilingualism on speech production: a systematic review.  

International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders. 48, 1–24

P
age 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2018-to-2019


This is non-statutory guidance which supports all those 

working in early childhood education settings to implement 

the requirements of the Statutory Framework for the EYFS. 

All practitioners working to support the early learning of 

young children can use Development Matters as part of 

daily observation, assessment and planning. It can also  

be used at points during the EYFS as a guide to making  

best-fit summative judgements in relation to whether a 

child is showing typical development, is at risk of delay or is 

ahead for their age. In order for this to become a strategic 

tool there would need to be agreed protocols for data 

collection and associated guidance.

Early Talk Boost tracker is appropriate only for the older  

end of the early years population but has the benefit 

of being wide ranging across skills with the exception 

of speech development and also leads into a targeted 

intervention for those highlighted as in need, whilst the 

Every Child A Talker monitoring tool is still favoured by  

many but in most areas is no longer accompanied  

by the ECAT programme in settings.

29 Development Matters in the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS). (2012) Department for Education

Development Matters29 is widely 
used amongst education providers. 

P
age 105



Identification tools and processes - Table 1

Age (years) Area of development assessed
Intervention 

included
Cost Training required

0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5
Attention & 

Listening
Understanding Talking

Social 
Communication

Speech

ASQ3 £300 Yes – free online

WellComm
  

(from 
0:6)

some questions 
embedded in 
other sections

£449 + £82  
reporting Wizard

Yes - free online

Development 
Matters

general 
support 

strategies
No cost No

Early Talk Boost 
Tracker

  
(up to 4:6)

£500 plus  
training cost

Yes – cost 
variable

ECAT Child 
Monitoring Tool

No cost No

Speech Link
£330 year one;  

£180 subsequent years
Yes - free online

Infant Language 
Link

£425 year one;  
£275 subsequent years

Yes - free online

Self-developed 
checklists

No cost No

Progression Tools 
Age 3

some questions 
embedded in 
other sections

£29.99 No

Progression Tools 
Age 4

some questions 
embedded in 
other sections

£29.99 No

P
age 106



Identification recommendations within  
Leicester, Derby and Nottingham Cities

The best information available at the time of writing suggests that the Early  

Language Identification Measure (ELIM) due to be published late 2020 will provide  

a useful addition to the ASQ3 currently used by Health Visitors as part of the national  

surveillance programme for two-year olds. 

However, Public Health England have stated that the ELIM will not be mandatory and therefore Local 

Authority and Health Partners in each area will be free to choose whether to adopt the ELIM, introduce 

another identification measure for SLCN or continue with their current arrangements. Prof Law has 

indicated that interventions to follow on from the ELIM are also being developed but it is not clear 

whether these would be universal advice and strategies for families or more targeted interventions 

delivered by the early years workforce in some way. 

There has also been mention of the possibility of the ELIM being used as the basis of the integrated early 

years review which would make it more central to the processes around identification in Local Authorities 

but as yet there is no clear guidance on this matter. The Annex to this paper which presents links to a wide 

set of identification tools that have been evaluated in the UK and beyond provides a comprehensive 

set from which to draw. Table 1, on the previous page, provides a ‘short-list’ summary of those most 

commonly used that all have merits. Additionally, there will be the new ELIM at some point during 2020.

The key conclusion is that in the absence of a mandatory set of processes beyond the ASQ3, each  

Local Authority will need to decide with partners what is going to best meet the needs of the population.  

This EOF project has used the Balanced System® as a common strategic framework and therefore 

meeting Identification Strand Outcomes at universal, targeted and specialist levels may help in framing 

the identification strategy for the three cities as opposed to seeking a particular screening, identification 

or assessment input.

P
age 107



The following may prove useful in this process:

1.  Ensuring basic knowledge for all practitioners  

around early speech, language and communication 

expected levels and milestones

2.  Ensuring basic knowledge among all practitioners 

around the key risk factors for a child in the early  

years in respect of SLCN

3.  Taking an outcomes focused approach to 

identification – having local outcomes statements 

indicating the shared responsibility for identification 

and requiring early years settings and practitioners to 

deploy identification checklists, processes and tools  

to observe, measure and track children’s SLC.

4.  Taking an outcomes focused approach to the  

‘so what?’ of identification – that is – that there must 

be a range of universal and targeted interventions 

available for all those who are identified as having  

any level of need – identification with no follow  

up is the worst possible scenario

5.  LAs may choose to recommend one preferred tool.  

In this case the important factor will be the sensitivity 

and specificity to the population served and the link 

to the appropriate follow up intervention for those 

identified as needing additional support.

P
age 108



4. 
intervention

P
age 109



Having considered the issues and options around 

identification, this section of the paper moves on to  

outline key factors for consideration when selecting 

effective interventions. 

It presents findings and recommendations summarised 

from the research base and includes a summary table 

of interventions most commonly used across the cities 

based on the information supplied as part of the needs 

assessment mapping exercise. There are several excellent 

reviews of evidence-based practice in the Early Years30,31  

and this paper does not attempt to replicate these but 

rather draw on their key messages through linking with  

the most commonly reported practice in the three cities.

Interventions to support and develop speech,  

language and communication can be described  

across the universal, targeted and specialist continuum.  

These terms were first introduced to the speech and 

language therapy profession within the RCSLT Position 

Paper in 200632 and have been further defined in the 

intervening years. Crucially, there is a need to distinguish 

between the interventions described as universal,  

targeted or specialist and the population of children for 

whom they might be appropriate. Figure 12 below clarifies 

the independence between how we identify children’s 

needs, the continuum of interventions and the workforce 

to deliver these interventions.

30 https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf 31 http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/whatworks
32 Gascoigne, M.T., (2006) Supporting children with SLCN within integrated children’s services RCSLT London

P
age 110

https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf
http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/whatworks


Figure 12: Relationship between population, 
intervention and workforce

© M.T.Gascoigne, 2016

Few

Some

All	  children	  and	  
young	  people

Specialist

Targeted

Universal

Specialist

Enhanced	  
skills	  in	  

specific	  area

Wider	  
workforce

Population	  of	  CYP WorkforceIntervention

Relationship between population, 
intervention and workforce

P
age 111



Universal interventions are appropriate for a whole 

population, however, defined.  A good universal offer  

to support speech, language and communication will 

include high-quality language learning opportunities  

and interactions delivered by a skilled and  

knowledgeable workforce. 

Children with no underlying difficulties make expected 

progress when receiving high-quality provision at this level. 

Development Matters in the EYFS is an example of universal 

provision that is nationally available whilst other provisions 

such as Early Word Aware could be described as excellent 

interventions to be available to all children but may or may 

not be part of a particular universal offer in an area. 

Targeted interventions are provided either to specific 

children where a need has been identified that requires 

additional support or to families or in settings where 

there are identified risk factors for speech, language and 

communication need.

Examples of interventions falling into this category 

include the WellComm intervention for supporting the 

development of language understanding or talking 

and Early Talk Boost to develop attention, listening and 

language and preventative family support programmes 

such as the PEEP Learning Together Programme.   Speech 

and language therapists have a role in both the delivery 

of targeted interventions and establishment of targeted 

interventions by others within the wider workforce.

Specialist interventions are provided to a minority of 

children within a given population. Specialist interventions 

should always be viewed as part of a wider package  

of support that includes the universal offer and  

targeted interventions.  

Specialist interventions are typically delivered by or 

overseen by a specialist practitioner which for speech, 

language and communication may be a speech 

and language therapist or possibly an educational 

psychologist or specialist teacher. Specialist interventions 

may be delivered by assistant practitioners where 

a speech and language therapist is overseeing the 

programme of delivery and monitoring outcomes. 

The intervention provided is dependent on the area 

of need identified for support rather than diagnostic 

category and is likely to change over time in accordance 

with both the child’s response to intervention and their 

changing profile of needs. 

P
age 112



Law et al33 reported that language interventions  

are often devised by specialists and often delivered by  

non-specialists such as parents, early years practitioners 

and teaching assistants in the context in which children 

spend most of their time. 

They highlight that much work needs to be done looking  

at the long-term benefits of interventions and evaluations 

of the combinations of interventions, looking at evidence 

‘… in terms of the child’s experiences of a pathway through 

services rather than a single intervention.’. Interventions 

need to be multi-faceted covering support for a wide 

range of key language and communication skills such  

as facilitating dialogic book reading; scaffolding  

classroom interactions; fostering narrative skills and 

teaching vocabulary.  

Their report specifies the key importance of staff training 

to ensure fidelity to the intervention and to replicate the 

results from the effectiveness studies which have been 

carried out on them.  The interventions must also feed 

into the development of literacy, for example developing 

phonological awareness support; whole word decoding 

and spelling; developing narrative skills to support 

children’s ability to generate and write stories.  

The universal, targeted, specialist conceptual framework 

is established in both health and education services and 

underpins the Code of Practice graduated approach 

to support where intervention is provided and the child’s 

response to support evaluated. 

Table 2 below summarises the interventions included in  

the qualitative mapping process as part of the needs 

analysis conducted across the three cities. At a universal 

and targeted level, programmes or approaches are 

primarily mentioned, whereas at a specialist level 

contributors identified some programmes or interventions 

but also simply stated the practitioners delivering specialist 

interventions without elaborating on the scope of the 

interventions themselves.  This is an interesting reflection  

on the association with specialist interventions being 

defined by being delivered by specialist practitioners 

which is not necessarily the case.

33 https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf

P
age 113

https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf


Leicester Derby Nottingham

Universal

School Counsellor Launchpad to Literacy PEEP

PEEP Primary Word Aware Word Aware

Restorative Practice - -

Displays Early Word Aware Fun Time

Forest Schools - -

Stay and play sessions - -

Positive Peaceful Places - -

Targeted

 Emotions in Motion Infant Language Link Makaton

Better Reading & Writing Partners Speech Link Video Interaction G

Peer mentoring Early Talk Boost Theraplay

WellComm - -

Let’s Get Talking - -

Fun-time - -

Theraplay - -

Early Talk Boost & Talk Boost - -

Knowledge Transfer Centre (KTC) Early Words Project. - -

Dr Suess with Specialist TA - -

Mindfulness - -

Specialist

NHS SLT NHS SLT NHS SLT

Family Fun Hearing Impairment advisory teacher Applied  Behavioural Analysis (ABA) for children with autism

Inference training Physical needs advisor Intensive Interaction

VI support Advisory teacher for Visual Impairment PECS

Build to express Social communication and autism advisory team Educational Psychology

Drawing and Talking Early Intervention Team advisors More Than Words

Emotional Wellbeing in Education project - Alternative and Augmentative Communication support

Play therapy - -

TEACCH programme for children with autism - -

Table 2: Interventions reported in the mapping exercise  
across Leicester, Derby and Nottingham Cities

P
age 114



Evidence for interventions
In response to the Bercow Review of provision for 

children and young people with speech, language 

and communication needs published in July 2008, 

The Better Communication Research Programme 

reviewed the effectiveness of interventions that  

were in use or published in the research literature. 

The reviews took into account the aims and 

objectives, how the intervention was delivered, 

target group (speech, language, communication 

or complex needs), and age range of children 

receiving the intervention.  Some of the 

interventions were for use at only a universal, 

targeted or specialist level – some could be 

adapted to meet the need of children at  

different levels. 

As a result of this initial research, a moderated 

online library of evidenced intervention for 

supporting children’s speech, language and 

communication - What Works – has been 

developed34. It has been designed to helps early 

years practitioners, teachers, school leaders and 

speech and language therapists find appropriate 

evidence-based interventions for the children they 

work with supporting their decision-making in what 

will work best for both them and the children.

The user is able to select interventions by searching 

on by target group, age range, focus of the 

intervention, who it's delivered by and in what 

type of format. The evidence for each intervention 

is rated as 'strong', 'moderate' or 'indicative' as 

determined by an academic moderating group, 

with a summary of the evidence base and 

academic references provided.

What Works provides a speech, language and 

communication focused resource of collated 

evidence around a set of interventions and more 

recently training programmes.  However, there are a 

number of caveats and challenges that need to be 

taken into account when using What Works.

Firstly, since the original dataset was collated 

any additional interventions to be included have 

to be proposed and meet criteria around the 

amount of research based evidence there is for 

the intervention regardless of the outcome of 

this research evidence. So, for example, a new 

intervention will by definition not meet the criteria 

for inclusion until it has been the subject of empirical 

research or, if exceptionally it is considered it will by 

definition not meet the criteria for having the best 

levels of evidence.

However, conversely a well research intervention 

could show that there is a high level of research 

evidence even if it is not positive evidence! 

Secondly, impairment focused and prescriptive 

interventions lend themselves more easily to 

research and therefore the evidence base 

is potentially skewed by virtue of the body of 

evidence being dominated by what is ‘easy to 

measure’ not necessarily what is most impactful  

in a functional context.

Finally, the research conditions for the intervention 

studies typically reflects ‘best conditions’ in the 

delivery and fidelity to the model.  Even those 

interventions with empirical evaluation have not 

matured sufficiently for there to be numbers of 

replication studies to explore these issues. 

The conclusion here is, to quote Prof Law,  

‘to remember that the lack of evidence is not  

the same as poor evidence’ and to seek to build 

a culture of evidenced informed practice where 

practitioners of all persuasions, schools and setting 

leaders build impact measures for their children  

and families into their offer.

34 https://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/whatworks

P
age 115

https://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/whatworks


This approach is supported by the Early 
Intervention Foundation (EIF)35 review of 
a broader evidence base around early 
learning and looked at how it is applied  
in practice.

It has reviewed the evidence for school readiness looking 

at 4 overlapping domains - physical; cognitive; social and 

emotional and behavioural - and effective and ineffective 

interventions for children’s early language development. 

Within the cognitive domain, the EIF consider children’s 

knowledge of objects; people; number and words.

In their review they state that the characteristics of 

effective early interventions are those that:  

•  Start early, for example the Family Nurse  

Partnership starts pre-birth

•  Are targeted on the basis of need,  

for example family income

•  Are long in duration – effective interventions  

are at least 30 weeks long

• Lead by qualified staff and supervised practitioners

The EIF also recommend when providing interventions 

supporting SLC:

• Consider intensive home visits

•  Interventions individualised to need  

and provided regularly

•  Interventions delivered by workforce trained to offer 

advice on strategies for both parent-child interaction 

and improving the home learning environment

For interventions to be effective, the EIF recommend that 

providers consider the need to provide a level of intensity; 

targeting based on family income and to be focused at 

families who can benefit the most from them.  They also 

require ongoing evaluation of impact at a local level.  

Following their review of factors that don’t make an  

impact on SLC skills that are often quoted as being risk 

factors they report frequent ear infections; dummies;  

book gifting; buggies do not have adequate empirical 

evidence to link them to SLCN.

35 EIF webinar: Understanding the evidence on speech & language development

P
age 116



An Education Endowment Foundation funded review  

(Law et al)36 carried out a review of early language 

interventions using a educational, psychological and 

health literature.  The parameters of the review included 

studies that had incorporated a rigorous methodology – 

either a randomised control trial or quasi-experimental.  

The four specific outcomes of the interventions were: 

phonological; expressive and receptive vocabulary; 

expressive language and comprehension.

The aim of the intervention review section was to identify 

studies that focused on whole populations rather that 

populations of children with a specific clinical need.  

45 studies met the review criteria and were summarised 

using criteria from the What Works database combined 

with an evidence rating system to capture robustness 

of the literature.  The studies were classified according 

to focus of the interventions; whether the studies were 

programmes or practices; who delivered the intervention; 

the location of the interventions; the intensity and duration 

of the interventions; and the effect size of the intervention. 

The review also included ‘top down’ case studies of areas 

where the Balanced System® was used to map provision 

in order to triangulate practice in five authorities with the 

evidenced based review of interventions meeting robust 

academic and empirical criteria.

In respect of interventions two important conclusions  

were drawn.  Firstly, that parent-child interaction 

approaches prior to nursery age should be further 

explored in a systematic way and compared to routine 

care from the early years system such as Health Visitor 

surveillance and other early years community offer. 

The second that there is a need for further evaluation 

of the efficacy of training early years practitioners to 

deliver targeted interventions in early years settings when 

compared with ‘routine care’ and targeted interventions 

led by speech and language therapists.

36 https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf

P
age 117

https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/Law_et_al_Early_Language_Development_final.pdf


Since the publication of the Law et al review for 

the EEF, the outcomes of a large scale study using 

the Nuffield Early Language Intervention (NELI) has 

been published (April, 2020). 

The NELI was first developed in 2010 by Professor 

Maggie Snowling and a team from the University 

of York in partnership with ICAN and funded by 

the EEF.  The initial small scale trial concluded that 

the intervention was ‘promising’ but small sample 

and the number of other targeted interventions 

being developed that relied on training of the 

teaching assistants resulted in a lack of uptake by 

the sector. 

The EEF however funded a large scale study 

which reported in April, 2020.  Prof Snowling and 

team now based at the University of Oxford led 

the research this time using the Elklan trainer 

network to increase the scale and reach of the 

research.37 The NELI has now been given a ‘five 

padlock’ rating by EEF (highest rank) whilst being 

described as low cost at £43 - £58 per pupil. 

It should therefore be considered amongst the 

range of interventions for the three cities even 

though there are no current reports of its use  

and this latest validation is for reception class  

not nursery age range.

The common thread to both these 

recommendations is the importance of 

a coaching relationship which facilitates 

adjustments and changes in behaviour by  

the key change agent (parent or early years 

practitioner) who spends time with the child.  

The implications are then that the impact of  

the intervention continues way beyond a  

‘session’ or ‘dose’. 

This point has been addressed in the recent 

NELI trial which involves ongoing support to the 

teaching assistants beyond the two day training.

In respect of the whole systems approach the 

key messages were that there needs to be a 

systematic focus on evaluating outcomes in  

local areas which adopt a clear pathway 

of support taking into account risk factors at 

identification and building a continuum of 

support in the early years offer to systematically 

respond to identified need. 

Therefore, a menu of specific interventions alone 

will not provide the flexibility of response within the 

system, there needs to be an integrated whole 

system offer.

37 https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/projects-and-evaluation/projects/nuffield-early-language-intervention-1/

P
age 118

https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/projects-and-evaluation/projects/nuffield-early-language-intervention-1/


Universal and Targeted 
interventions for the 
Leicester, Derby and 
Nottingham cities
Table 3 below summarises the most frequently reported 

interventions currently in use across the three cities with 

similar parameters as for the identification table but with 

the addition on an evidence rating. 

The evidence rating is problematic as outlined above 

given the lack of a comprehensive source of comparable 

information for rating evidence of impact in a system.  A 

number of locally developed resources were reported 

and these have not been included due to the diversity 

and lack of any objective means of commenting on the 

evidence base for these.

It should also be noted that the interventions do not 

include training programmes with the primary aim of 

raising skills and confidence of parents or practitioners 

(such as ELKLAN ) which is being included in the Early 

Years Professional Development Programme nationally 

or improvement programmes aimed at encouraging a 

strategic approach to schools or settings embedding 

a whole systems approach to speech, language and 

communication such as the Balanced System® Scheme  

for Schools and Settings which has been delivered to  

80 schools and settings in the eight most disadvantaged 

wards in Derby as part of the Talk Derby Opportunity Area.

P
age 119



Age (years) Area of development supported
Level Cost Training 

required
Evidence 
base38*0-1 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 Attention 

& Listening
Under-

standing Talking Social 
Communication Speech

WellComm
  

(from 
0:6)

some activities 
included

Targeted £449 + £82  
reporting Wizard

Yes - free 
online **

Development Matters Universal No cost No

Early Talk Boost   
(up to 4:6)

Targeted £500 plus training cost Yes – cost 
variable ***

PEEP
Universal/ 
Targeted

£85 plus training cost Yes – cost 
variable ***

Speech Link Targeted £330 year one; £180 
subsequent years

Yes - free 
online *

Early Word Aware Universal £40 / book plus  
training cost Yes *

Word Aware Universal £40 / book plus  
training cost Yes *

Infant Language Link Targeted £425 year one; £275 
subsequent years

Yes - free 
online **

Nuffield Early 
Language  

Intervention (NELI)
Targeted

£870 for one form entry 
school / £1290 for two 

form entry school
Yes ***

Universal & Targeted Intervention - Table 3

38 *small scale / local research; ** medium scale research; *** included on national evidence databases

P
age 120



IN1. Universal     Homes, settings and schools are supported to develop the language and communication  

skills of all children and young people through language enrichment and supportive activities.

As with the conclusion to the identification section of this paper, using the Balanced System® 
Outcome descriptors for the Intervention Strand may prove a useful way of framing the choice  
of a suite of intervention methodologies.

IN2. Targeted     Children and young people benefiting from targeted interventions will have access to evidence based  

targeted interventions to develop core speech, language and communication skills delivered in the most 

appropriate functional context.  These might include 1:1 and / or small group interventions that are typically 

designed by specialist practitioners and delivered by those with appropriate training.

IN3. Specialist     Children and young people needing specialist intervention for their SLCN receive appropriate and timely  

provision in the most functionally appropriate context for their needs.  Progress measures will include activity, 

participation and well-being goals in addition to goals relating to their core SLC impairment.

P
age 121



In choosing a suite of interventions to 
recommend as part of this EOF project the 
following considerations should be taken 
into account:

1.  To achieve the universal intervention outcomes a 

programme of professional development, training 

and coaching, recommended resources for 

supporting speech, language and communication 

and confidence building amongst parents and early 

years practitioners will be key activities. 

 

These will almost certainly be achieved through 

developing and enhancing existing workforce 

activity such as health visitor support and early years 

practitioner confidence in supporting families. 

 

The Pathway for SLCN being developed as part  

of this EOF project should provide the necessary links  

to information and accessible resources for  

those conversations.

2.  To achieve the targeted outcome, the three  

cities should consider not only the choice of  

targeted interventions but the process by which  

they will be established and embedded in the  

early years community of practice.

3.  The support of specialist practitioners is key  

and training of the wider workforce alone  

cannot be assumed to result in impact on  

children through embedded targeted  

interventions consistently offered.

4.  Practitioners’ confidence in the chosen interventions 

is also paramount.  If a particular programme 

is chosen at a Local Authority level without the 

confidence of the early years sector the process 

issues of delivery and impact will be problematic.

5.  As with the choices for identification, each LA  

will need to make a considered decision based on 

the context including the availability of a specialist 

offer to support practitioners.

P
age 122



5. 
conclusion

P
age 123



In conclusion, this report sets out a synthesis 
of the most relevant information in respect of 
identification and intervention for the early  
years in order to support strategic decision 
making across the three cities engaged in 
this Early Outcomes Fund project. 

The context that is 2020 as outlined in the introduction 

will undoubtedly influence decision making but the key 

principles of being outcomes focused and the need  

for sector wide adoption of the proposed tools remain 

crucial to systemic change and improvement.P
age 124



summary of 
identification tools

Annex:P
age 125



Using the parameters that need to be considered for  
effective identification, Better Communication has reviewed  
the following screening and diagnostic identification tools:

• identified in the Balanced System® mapping tool for the 3 LAs

• identification tools known to be used widely in the EY to assess SLC

• indicated as assessing language on the EEF Early Years Measures database

P
age 126



Identification Tool: Language Development Survey

Assesses
Expressive vocabulary and beginning  
word combinations

Age range 18-35 months

Can be 
delivered by

Parent report

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Not indicated

How long to 
administer

10 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

Excellent reliability as assessed by Cronbach's 
alpha and test-retest techniques

Positives
Excellent sensitivity and specificity for the 
identification of language delay; can be used  
to assess bilingual children

Identification Tool: ASQ3

Assesses
Communication, gross motor, fine motor,  
problem solving, and personal-social

Age range 1-66 months

Can be 
delivered by

Any professional

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Training videos available

How long to 
administer

15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

Concurrent validity - 74% for the 42-month;  
100% for the 2-month and 54-month questionnaires 
(86% overall agreement). 

Sensitivity - 75% for the 6-month questionnaire; 
100% for the 4-month, 14-month, 54-month, and 
60-month questionnaires (86% overall agreement). 

Specificity - 70% for the 14-month questionnaire: 
100% for the 2-month, 16-month, and 54-month 
questionnaires (with 85% overall agreement).

Positives Easy to administer

Negatives
Communication section inconsistent in identifying 
mild – moderate SLCN

P
age 127

https://aseba.org/research/the-language-development-survey-lds/
https://agesandstages.com/products-pricing/asq3/


Identification Tool: British Ability Scales

Assesses 20 areas of knowledge, thinking, skills

Age range 3-17:11

Can be 
delivered by

Educational Psychologist and Clinical Psychologist

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Not indicated

Cost
£1325 for full set – would need to look  
at which parts needed

How long to 
administer

30-45 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives Free access to a scoring and reporting service

Identification Tool: British Picture Vocabulary Scale

Assesses Receptive Vocabulary

Age range 3-16

Can be 
delivered by

SLT; Educational Psychologist and;  
experienced teacher

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

How long to 
administer

10-15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives Easy to administer

P
age 128

https://www.gl-assessment.co.uk/products/british-ability-scales-bas3/
https://www.gl-assessment.co.uk/products/british-picture-vocabulary-scale-bpvs3/


Identification Tool: Bus Story

Assesses
Expressive language discourse –  
information; sentences; grammar

Age range 3:06-8

Can be 
delivered by

Not indicated

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Yes, training advised if not delivered by SLT

Cost £45.90

How long to 
administer

10

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 2/3; Implementation 2/3

Positives Normed at monthly intervals to allow comparisons

Negatives Unreliable scoring

Identification Tool: New Reynell Developmental Language Scales

Assesses
Understanding and production of selected 
vocabulary and grammatical features

Age range 2-7:06

Can be 
delivered by

SLT

Cost £665 per set

How long to 
administer

45-60 mins

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives Standardised accurate assessment

P
age 129

https://www.winslowresources.com/bus-story-test-renfrew-language-scales.html
https://www.gl-assessment.co.uk/products/new-reynell-developmental-language-scales-nrdls/


Identification Tool: Preschool Language Scales

Assesses
Oral language: pre-verbal,  
interaction-based skills; comprehension;  
expressive language; early literacy

Age range Birth-7:11

Can be 
delivered by

SLT; Occupational Therapist; trained health 
professionals

Cost £495

How long to 
administer

45-60 mins

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives Scoring clear and transparent

Identification Tool: Test for Reception of Grammar

Assesses Receptive grammar

Age range 4-87 years

Can be 
delivered by

Professional trained in delivering standardised tests

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

Cost £240

Training 
provider

N/A

How long to 
administer

10-20 mins

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 2/3

Positives Scoring clear and transparent

P
age 130

https://www.pearsonclinical.co.uk/AlliedHealth/PaediatricAssessments/Language-CompositeGeneral/pls5/preschool-language-scale-fifth-edition.aspx
https://www.pearsonclinical.co.uk/Psychology/ChildCognitionNeuropsychologyandLanguage/ChildLanguage/TestforReceptionofGrammar(TROG-2)/TestforReceptionofGrammar(TROG-2).aspx


Identification Tool: Word Finding Test

Assesses Expressive vocabulary

Age range 3-8 years

Can be 
delivered by

Professional trained in delivering standardised tests

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

Cost £47.99

How long to 
administer

10-15 mins

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 2/3; Implementation 2/3

Positives Scoring clear and transparent

Identification Tool: CELF Preschool

Assesses Receptive and Expressive Language

Age range 3-6 years

Can be 
delivered by

SLT; Educational Psychologist

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

Cost £470

How long to 
administer

30-45 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives
Reliably diagnoses and classifies  
language disorders

P
age 131

https://www.winslowresources.com/catalogsearch/result/?q=word+finding+vocabulary+test&amnoroute
https://www.pearsonclinical.co.uk/Psychology/ChildCognitionNeuropsychologyandLanguage/ChildLanguage/CELF-Preschool2UK/CELF-Preschool2UK.aspx


Identification Tool: Diagnostic Test of Articulation and Phonology

Assesses Screen; articulation; phonology; oro-motor

Age range 3-6:11 years

Can be 
delivered by

SLT; Educational Psychologist; health professional

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

How long to 
administer

5 minutes screening; 10-15 minutes  
articulation; 10-15 minutes phonology;  
5 minutes oro-motor screen

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives UK norm reference

Negatives Complex scoring system

Identification Tool: Early Repetition Battery

Assesses Phonological and morphosyntactic processing

Age range 2-6 years

Can be 
delivered by

SLT

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

How long to 
administer

10-15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 2/3

Positives Clear and transparent scoring

P
age 132

https://www.pearsonclinical.co.uk/AlliedHealth/PaediatricAssessments/PhonologyandArticulation/DiagnosticEvaluationofArticulationandPhonology(DEAP)/DiagnosticEvaluationofArticulationandPhonology(DEAP).aspx
https://www.pearsonclinical.co.uk/Psychology/ChildCognitionNeuropsychologyandLanguage/ChildLanguage/EarlyRepetitionBattery/EarlyRepetitionBattery.aspx


Identification Tool: Grammar and Phonology Screening Test

Assesses Grammar; Phonology

Age range 3:6-6:6 years

Can be 
delivered by

Both professionals and non-professionals

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Not indicated

How long to 
administer

10 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 3/3

Positives Clear and transparent scoring

Identification Tool: MacArthur Bates Communicative  
Development Inventories

Assesses Gestures and Words; Words and Sentences

Age range 8-37 months

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

Cost £125

How long to 
administer

20-40 minutes for parent to complete;  
10-15 minutes to score

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives Parent completes

P
age 133

http://hvdl.org.uk/2020/01/03/gaps-grammar-and-phonology-screening/
https://brookespublishing.com/product/cdi/
https://brookespublishing.com/product/cdi/


Identification Tool: Children’s Communication Checklist

Assesses Structural and expressive language

Age range 4-16

Can be 
delivered by

SLT; Educational Psychologist; Occupational 
Therapist; 

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

Cost £173 + £58 per additional pack of 25 checklists

Training 
provider

N/A

How long to 
administer

5-15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 2/3; Implementation 2/3

Positives Checklist completed by respondent

Identification Tool: WellComm

Assesses Receptive and expressive language

Age range 6 months-6 years

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training required 
to use the tool

Yes, online training available

Length of training Not indicated

Cost of training None – self-directed learning

Cost £449 + £82 reporting Wizard

Training provider Online included in purchase

How long to 
administer

10-15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 2/3; Implementation 2/3

Positives

Includes intervention resource; WellComm  
Primary also available to track and support  
over time. Some usage currently in Leicester 
and Derby.Evidence of impact on the Derby 
population in the Derby pilot project and  
Derwent Stepping Stones project.

P
age 134

https://www.pearsonclinical.co.uk/Psychology/ChildCognitionNeuropsychologyandLanguage/ChildLanguage/ChildrensCommunicationChecklist(CCC-2)/ChildrensCommunicationChecklist(CCC-2).aspx
https://www.gl-assessment.co.uk/products/wellcomm/


Identification Tool: Action Picture Test

Assesses Expressive vocabulary; grammatical features

Age range 3-9 years

Can be 
delivered by

SLT

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

Cost £30

How long to 
administer

10-15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

EEF Psychometry 3/3; Implementation 1/3

Positives Norm referenced

Negatives Complex scoring system

Identification Tool: Every Child a Talker Child Monitoring Tool

Assesses
Attention and Listening; Comprehension; 
Expression; Social Communication; Speech

Age range 0-5 years

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No but training in assessment advisable

Cost Free resource

How long to 
administer

Can be incorporated into EYFS tracking

Evidence on 
accuracy

Not indicated

Positives
Red flags at 11, 12, 16, 18, 24, 30 and 36 months; 
links with EYFS age band

Negatives Wide age bands reduce accuracy of assessment

P
age 135

https://www.winslowresources.com/action-picture-test-5th-edition.html
https://foundationyears.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/ecat_guidance_for_practitioners_31.pdf


Identification Tool: Early Talk Boost Tracker
NB this links to a free download checklist

Assesses
Attention and Listening; Understanding;  
Speaking; Personal, Social and Communication

Age range 3-4

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner 

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Yes

Length of 
training

As part of ETB training – 5 hours

Cost of 
training

Variable

Cost £480

Training 
provider

ICAN Licensee

How long to 
administer

20 mins

Evidence on 
accuracy

Not standardised, based on norms

Positives Easy to interpret RAG rating

Identification Tool: Speech Link

Assesses Speech sounds

Age range 4-7

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Yes – online video walk through  
available with package

Length of 
training

Not indicated

Cost of 
training

Included in price of package

Cost £330 year one; £180 subsequent years

Training 
provider

Speech Link

How long to 
administer

15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

Impact report features Derby City – use of Speech Link 
improving speech sounds https://speechandlanguage.
info/resources/perch/pdf/impact-report-1.pdf

Positives
Includes training on speech sound development; 
includes intervention; function to demonstrate impact  
of intervention 

P
age 136

https://ican.org.uk/media/1968/etb_tracker_2017.pdf
https://speechandlanguage.info/
https://speechandlanguage.info/resources/perch/pdf/impact-report-1.pdf
https://speechandlanguage.info/resources/perch/pdf/impact-report-1.pdf


Identification Tool: Infant Language Link

Assesses Language

Age range 4-7

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Yes – online video walk through available  
with package

Length of 
training

Not indicated

Cost of 
training

Included in price of package

Cost £425 year one; £275 subsequent years

Training 
provider

Speech Link

How long to 
administer

15 minutes

Positives
Junior Language Link and Secondary Language 
Link also available allowing monitoring of SLC 
development over time. Includes intervention

Identification Tool: Stoke Communication Screen

Assesses Early language

Age range 2-5 years

Can be delivered by Any practitioner

Training required to 
use the tool

Optional – training available from Stoke Speaks Out. 
In Stoke, a SLT is also allocated to each setting to 
train and support to use the tool.

Length of training 1 day

Cost of training Not indicated

Cost
£140 from Stoke LA – includes photocopiable  
test forms

Training provider Stoke Speaks Out

How long to 
administer

5-10 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

https://docs.wixstatic.com/
ugdeda5ca_760ce227b77240b4aaad329e9067fdf6.
pdf?index=true It has been validated against the 
New Reynell Developmental Language Scales 3  
to ensure its accuracy.

Positives

Currently under evaluation from CREC as part of 
an EOF project – what makes settings sustain their 
practice in screening is under evaluation. 
Easy to interpret RAG rated results.

P
age 137

https://speechandlanguage.info/
https://aa59102a-888c-4e07-8c12-aa2fb811a2c2.usrfiles.com/ugd/43af96_a0099773cd594ace8de32e27a9dcd839.pdf
https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/eda5ca_760ce227b77240b4aaad329e9067fdf6.pdf?index=true
https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/eda5ca_760ce227b77240b4aaad329e9067fdf6.pdf?index=true
https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/eda5ca_760ce227b77240b4aaad329e9067fdf6.pdf?index=true


Identification Tool: UK Bilingual Toddlers Assessment Tool

Assesses Expressive vocabulary

Age range 24 months

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training 
required to 
use the tool

Free online training

Length of 
training

Not indicated

How long to 
administer

Variable depending on method of administration

Evidence on 
accuracy

Predictive scores used

Positives
Accessible and available in for the  
bilingual population

Negatives
Reliability only in age range of 24 month plus/
minus 2 weeks

Identification Tool: Children’s Centre Speech and Language Screen 
(Derby specific tool)

Assesses Language

Age range 2 years

Can be 
delivered by

Any practitioner

Training 
required to 
use the tool

No

How long to 
administer

Approximately 15 minutes

Evidence on 
accuracy

No research conducted into accuracy;  
home-grown tool based on the Sure Start 
Language Measure

P
age 138

http://www.psy.plymouth.ac.uk/UKBTAT/


www.bettercommunication.org.uk
© Better Communication CIC, 2020

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Proposed SLC Strategy Draft Consultation Questions via SNAP Survey, to accompany pdf Strategy document 

Thank you for considering these consultation questions about the Draft Speech, Language & Communication 

Strategy, 0-5 years, for Nottingham City.  We are keen to ascertain your views on the Strategy with a few short 

questions which we would appreciate your time in answering: 

1. Are you answering this consultation as: 

As parent/carer 
 

 

A professional working with children and young 
people 

 

A professional interested in speech, language 
and communication 

 

Other - Please state 
 

 

 

2. Please score the following statements about the proposed collective aims of the strategy between 

strongly agree and strongly disagree: 

 
 
 
 
It is important to….. 

St
ro

n
gl

y 

A
gr

e
e 

A
gr

e
e 

N
e

it
h

e
r 

A
gr

e
e

 N
o

r 
D

is
ag

re
e 

D
is

ag
re

e 

St
ro

n
gl

y 
D

is
ag

re
e 

Ensure all professionals, across the 0-5 years workforce 
(across health, education and childcare) have identified 
baseline training and understand the assessment and 
screening process for all children 

     

Ensure all relevant organisations working with children and 
families promote the free early years entitlement offers for 
eligible 2, 3 and 4 year olds to encourage participation 

     

Ensure all 2 year olds receive an integrated (health and 
education) check using a universal screening tool, in 
partnership with parents, to support early identification of 
any speech, language and communication needs 

     

Be able to share information between health and education 
departments about a child/family so that they don’t miss 
out on any support needed  

     

 

3. Are there any aspects of the draft Strategy that you feel could be strengthened? 

Thank you for completing these consultation questions.  The consultation findings will be shared with the Health 

and Wellbeing Board in Autumn 2021 before being finalised, alongside an Implementation Plan 2021-2025, 

working towards the proposed collective aims and better outcomes for all children and young people. 

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Children’s Partnership Board
29th June 2021

A summary of the work linked to the creation of a 
Speech, Language and Communication 

Pathway for Nottingham City

P
age 143



Overview of Level of Need
Predicted SLCN as a % of children 0-4 by ward

P
age 144



What are we, as collective 
partners, doing about it? 

• Developing a workable SLC Strategy
• Understanding what interventions are being used

• Funding SLC focused activities in 4 wards
(Aspley, Bulwell, Hyson Green & Arboretum & St
Ann’s) in partnership with Small Steps Big
Changes

• SLC focused Workforce Development
Programmes (for example, Back To Basics and
First 100 Words)

P
age 145



• Centralising all SLC resources for the City
• Navigating provisions available for parents,

carers and professionals to help all children
develop their SLC

https://pathway.thebalancedsystem.org

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DP7hBs_yUwA

 

 

P
age 146

https://pathway.thebalancedsystem.org/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DP7hBs_yUwA


A shared agenda for Nottingham 
City

• Develop a written, workable, SLC strategy to
firmly embed SLC as a City priority

• Promote the Pathway and look to extending the
age range

• Increase participation in free early years
entitlements places for 2, 3 and 4 year olds. This
will support early identification of SLC

• Commission with Health Partners an Integrated
(Health and Education) Review at 2 ½ years

P
age 147



P
age 148



Proposed Collective Aims

• Joint commissioning to support the delivery of a 
whole systems model 

• Data sharing agreements across agencies
• Integrated 2 year checks 
• Strategic engagement of families in take up of 

the 2, 3 and 4 year old offer
• Integration of the 0-5 workforce

P
age 149



Proposed Timeline
July 2021 Draft SLC Strategy approved for consultation by 

Health and Wellbeing Board

August 2021 Consultation on the draft SLC Strategy

September 2021 Strategy ratified by Health and Wellbeing Board and 
published

October 2021 On-going implementation of Action Plan 2021-2025,
working towards the proposed collective aims and
better outcomes for all children and young people

P
age 150



For more information

• Kathryn Bouchlaghem – Early Years Manager, 
kathryn.bouchlaghem@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
0115 8764531

• Katherine Crossley – Project Officer, Early 
Years 
katherine.crossley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
0115 8764534

P
age 151

mailto:kathryn.bouchlaghem@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:katherine.crossley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Play and Youth 
Children’s Partnership Board

June 2021

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 7



Play Youth structure

Team 4

P & Y Seniors  2

Seconded to EVR 

Hub

2x PY Seniors 

Early Help Head of Service - Wilf Fearon

Area Play & Youth  

Manager

North Team 1

Play and Youth Area 

Manager

South Team 3

Operational Play and Youth Manager

Jacquie Thomas

Play and Youth Area 

Manager

Central Team 2

Establishment

3 PY Seniors

6.5 PY Workers,

1 Apprentice,      

(2 fte.)  Casuals posts

Establishment

3 .5 PY Seniors, 

6.5 PY Workers

1 Apprentice

Establishment

4 PY  Seniors, 

7 PY Workers

2 Apprentice

P
age 154



Where do we deliver?

P
age 155



How Many Young people are attending 

Jan  – March 2021 

Financial Year Financial Quarter Total Sessions Total Attendees

2020-2021 FYQ4 359 2231

April – Jun 2021  

Financial Year Financial Quarter  Total Sessions Total Attendees

2021-2022 FYQ1 323 2216

Includes food and holiday activity programme 

P
age 156



Play and Youth – a Targeted Offer
April 2020 – March 2021 - Achievements:

• Identification of areas requiring prioritised Play Youth delivery and mapping changes

• Liaison with ABG community partners to support them to develop an open access offer across the 
City

• Summer programme 

In partnership with Education – Free, Fun & Food 

• Milford Academy, Clifton –
• National Play day on local sites 
• Rufford Primary School – Bulwell
• Resource delivery 
• Outreach 
• Nottingham Castle trust – trees planting 

• Delivered targeted 1:1 sessions, small targeted group work, telephone support, outreach and 
online sessions

• Worked alongside the EVR Hub and YEF Detached Team  

• Worked with CIS 

P
age 157



Play and Youth – a Targeted Offer
Continue 

Achievements:

• 2 Apprentices successfully finished their training programme  

• NYA youth work training programme, through the bursary scheme  

• Supporting Area Based Grant providers

P
age 158



Enhancing the Early Help offer to meet targeted needs

1. EVR Hub

2. Worked with Community providers to deliver an additional offer and increase opportunities for young 
people:
• Helping Kids Achieve - have been delivering outreach in the Top Valley and supporting young people 

who attend the Ridge
• Community Unite – are re-establishing sessions at the Ridge 
• Working with Notts Forest in the community to support the Holiday Activity Programme
• CLG – Drugs Alcohol Service

Re-starting sessions: 
• GYM session with Nottm Forest Kicks at Meadows YC
• Sexual Health Service - Bulwell

Developing - Play session with Boo foundation at St Ann’s PC

P
age 159



How do we know we are reaching the 
right young people? 

• We use Signs of Safety approach to identify Risk / Needs

• We run consistent weekly delivery

• Build trusted relationships 

• Deliver themed projects

• Gain young people feedback 

• Multi- agency work to identify young people at risk

• Receive referrals via statutory and voluntary partners

• Work in partnership with Ways to Work  & Nottm Work 4 U to 
develop opportunities for engagement in ETE  

P
age 160



Outcomes from young people’s self 
Assessment & Worker observation
• Assessments are completed using scaling method & accreditation 

• Young people are confident, resilient and optimistic for the future

• Improvement in managing feelings, personal, social and formal 
relationships

• Young people create, describe and apply their learning and skills

• Young people participate safely and effectively in groups

• Young people consider risk, make decisions for themselves and take control

• Young people use their voice and demonstrate social commitment

• Young people try new things / experiences which helps to broaden their 
perspectives

P
age 161



Ongoing staff development to deliver targeted work:

• Drugs and Alcohol training  

• Online Digital Training

• Choice and Consequence 

• Abianda (working with young women affected by gangs) 

• Targeted Youth work  

• SYVE Training  

P
age 162



P
age 163

A
genda Item

 9



P
age 164



P
age 165



P
age 166



P
age 167



P
age 168



P
age 169



P
age 170



P
age 171



P
age 172



P
age 173



P
age 174



P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 

           Children’s Partnership Board Forward Plan 2021/22 
 
 
 
September 2021  
 

 Domestic Abuse Act and Reducing Parental Conflict (Nicole Harris / Paul Martin) 

 Partner Update – The Voluntary & Community Sector in Nottingham – supporting Nottingham’s CYP 
and Families (Amy Goulden / Rich Bacon) 

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (Janine Walker / Sara-Jane Brighouse / Health rep) 

 Feedback from the Youth Leadership Conference – (Jon & YP rep/s) 

 Feedback from Inspections – CAMHS / Focused Visit 

 
December 2021 
 

 Corporate Parenting inc. recruitment of Foster Carers / Supported Lodgings (Tajinder Madahar / 
Sharon Clarke) 

 Integrated Care Partnership and Children’s Health Transformation – (CCG rep and Rich Brady) 

 Children’s Commissioning – next steps (Katy Ball / Karla Banfield / CCG?)  

 Child Friendly Nottingham Update 

 
March 2022 
 

 Education Focus to include Attendance & Exclusions (Nick Lee / schools reps) 

 Disproportionality in services for children and young people.  

 Financial inclusion and resilience (DWP / Supporting Families)  

 Child and Parental Substance Misuse (TBC) 

 
 
 
Please contact Debbie Hemsley if you have any suggestions for future items for the forward plan: 
Debbie.hemsley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 
 
 

 

Page 177

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Debbie.hemsley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Children and Young People's Plan 2021-24
	5 Children and Young People's Participation Strategy 2021-25
	Item 5 Participation Strategy 2021-25
	���Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy 2021-25
	CYP Participation Strategy 2021-25
	What is gained from a good participation culture?
	Why do we do this?
	Different approaches for different situations
	Different contexts for participation
	Developing our participation culture
	Aims of a whole-partnership approach
	To improve opportunities for the participation of children in need of help and protection, we will: 
	To improve our partnership culture of participation to give young people a voice in decisions that affect them, we will:
	���Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy 2021-25


	6 Creation of a Speech, Language and Communication Pathway for Nottingham City
	Item 6b SLC Executive Summary
	Item 6c Draft SLC Strategy
	Item 6d SLC Identification and Intervention
	Item 6e SLC Consultation Questions
	Item 6 SLC Presentation
	Children’s Partnership Board�29th June 2021
	Overview of Level of Need�Predicted SLCN as a % of children 0-4 by ward
	What are we, as collective partners, doing about it? �
	Slide Number 4
	A shared agenda for Nottingham City
	Slide Number 6
	Proposed Collective Aims
	Proposed Timeline
	For more information


	7 Play and Youth update
	9 Small Steps, Big Changes (SSBC) - partnership update
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13

	11 Work plan 2021-22



